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·1· · · · · · · · Deposition of MARY JO ALLEN

·2· · · · · · · · · · · ·July 19, 2017

·3· · · ·(Prior to the commencement of the deposition, all

·4· of the parties present agreed to waive the statements

·5· by the court reporter pursuant to Rule 30(b)(4) of the

·6· Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure.)

·7

·8· Thereupon--

·9· · · · · · · · · · · MARY JO ALLEN,

10· was called as a witness, and having been previously

11· duly sworn, was examined and testified as follows:

12· · · · · · · · ·(Exhibit 69 marked

13· · · · · · · · · for identification.)

14· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION

15· BY MR. LAI:

16· · · ·Q.· ·Good morning, my name is I-Che Lai.· I'm an

17· attorney with the law firm of Wilson Elser.· My firm

18· represents Zitting Brothers in this case.

19· · · · · · Could you state your full name for the

20· record.

21· · · ·A.· ·Mary Jo Allen, M-a-r-y J-o A-l-l-e-n.

22· · · ·Q.· ·Ms. Allen, you had your deposition taken

23· yesterday; is that correct?

24· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

25· · · ·Q.· ·Have you consumed any drugs, medication or
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·1· alcohol within the past 24 hours?

·2· · · ·A.· ·No.

·3· · · ·Q.· ·Do you believe that there is anything to

·4· prevent you from giving your best and most truthful

·5· testimony today?

·6· · · ·A.· ·No.

·7· · · ·Q.· ·Any reason why we can't go forward that you

·8· can think of?

·9· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.

10· · · ·Q.· ·Your current employer is APCO Construction,

11· correct?

12· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

13· · · ·Q.· ·Just to avoid any confusion, when I say APCO

14· in today's deposition, I mean APCO Construction; do you

15· understand?

16· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

17· · · ·Q.· ·The next question I ask all witnesses.· You

18· may have covered them yesterday, have you ever been

19· convicted of a felony?

20· · · ·A.· ·No, sir.

21· · · ·Q.· ·Have you ever been convicted of a crime

22· involving dishonesty, deceit, larceny or fraud?

23· · · ·A.· ·No.

24· · · ·Q.· ·In front of you is an exhibit premarked Allen

25· Exhibit 69.· Do you see that?
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·1· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·2· · · ·Q.· ·Have you ever seen this document before?

·3· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·Did you read this document before coming here

·5· today?

·6· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.· I read about a million documents.

·7· · · ·Q.· ·So this is one of the millions that you read?

·8· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

·9· · · ·Q.· ·Do you agree to testify today on behalf of

10· APCO?

11· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

12· · · ·Q.· ·On the topics concerning payment and payment

13· related questions, correct?

14· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

15· · · ·Q.· ·Are you prepared to go over those topics

16· today?

17· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

18· · · ·Q.· ·So you just testified that you reviewed about

19· a million documents for your preparation.· Can you

20· describe briefly what type of documents did you review

21· for your preparation?

22· · · ·A.· ·My job files, the documents that APCO

23· disclosed for the specific subs that are involved in

24· these depositions.· The documents that they disclosed.

25· · · ·Q.· ·When did you review these documents?
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·1· · · ·A.· ·Oh, my goodness.· Over the last month maybe.

·2· · · ·Q.· ·You can ballpark it.

·3· · · ·A.· ·A month.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·How long was that review approximately; was

·5· it hours or days?

·6· · · ·A.· ·Hours, days.· Well, I did a little here, a

·7· little there.· At times I spent, you know a whole day

·8· doing it.· I have a regular job that I have to do in

·9· between all of this, so I can't just stop functioning;

10· do you know what I mean?

11· · · ·Q.· ·I understand.· Hopefully we will get you out

12· of here today as soon as possible so you can get back

13· to your real job.

14· · · · · · Did you talk to anyone other than your

15· attorney?

16· · · ·A.· ·My boss Joe Pelan, Brian Benson.· Not really,

17· no, that's it.

18· · · ·Q.· ·What did you guys generally talk about with

19· respect to this deposition?

20· · · ·A.· ·I read Brian Benson's deposition and I asked

21· him questions about it.· Joe Pelan when I was reviewing

22· documents, I would show them to him and we discussed

23· them.· ManhattanWest in general.· That was about it.

24· · · ·Q.· ·When you talked to Mr. Benson about his

25· deposition testimony, did you ever have a conversation
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·1· about anything in that testimony of his that was

·2· incorrect, in your opinion?

·3· · · ·A.· ·No.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·Did you take any notes during your

·5· preparation for this deposition?

·6· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

·7· · · ·Q.· ·And that was during the month or so that you

·8· prepared?

·9· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

10· · · ·Q.· ·Do you still have a copy of those notes?

11· · · ·A.· ·Not here.

12· · · ·Q.· ·Is it back at your office?

13· · · ·A.· ·Sure.

14· · · ·Q.· ·Do you still have those notes?

15· · · ·A.· ·Sure.

16· · · ·Q.· ·Any reason why you took the notes when you

17· did your preparation?

18· · · ·A.· ·Because I'm old and I forget things, so as I

19· read things I write it down and it refreshes my memory

20· so I can go back and review.

21· · · · · · MR. LAI:· Counsel, if you can, I would like

22· to get a copy of those notes that she prepared, if

23· possible.

24· BY MR. LAI:

25· · · ·Q.· ·Other than your review of those documents and
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·1· talking to Mr. Pelan and Mr. Benson, is there anything

·2· else you did in preparation for your deposition?

·3· · · ·A.· ·No.

·4· · · · · · · · ·(Exhibit 70 marked

·5· · · · · · · · · for identification.)

·6· · · · · · MR. MOUNTEER:· Let's go off the record really

·7· quick if you don't mind.

·8· · · · · · MR. LAI:· Sure.

·9· · · · · · · · ·(Off-record discussion held.)

10· BY MR. LAI:

11· · · ·Q.· ·Ms. Allen, the court reporter handed you a

12· document that's marked as Allen 70; do you see that

13· document?

14· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

15· · · ·Q.· ·Have you ever seen that document before?

16· · · · · · MR. DABBIERI:· Excuse me, would you kindly

17· identify what the document is.

18· · · · · · MR. LAI:· Sure.· The document marked as

19· Exhibit Allen 70 is APCO Construction's answers to

20· Zitting Brothers Construction's first request for

21· interrogatories.

22· · · · · · MR. DABBIERI:· Thank you.

23· · · ·A.· ·I know this was in the binders and saw it in

24· there yesterday.

25· BY MR. LAI:
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·1· · · ·Q.· ·The binder documents that you reviewed in

·2· preparation?

·3· · · ·A.· ·Yes.

·4· · · ·Q.· ·Did you assist in providing answers to this

·5· set of requests for interrogatories marked as Allen 70?

·6· · · ·A.· ·If there was a question asked by someone that

·7· was completing these, I believe Joe did this.· Let me

·8· look and see.

·9· · · ·Q.· ·Take your time.

10· · · ·A.· ·I would have given them financial numbers.

11· For example, the amount that was paid.

12· · · ·Q.· ·I saw you gesturing to a page.· What page are

13· you looking at, just so I have an idea what you're

14· referencing?

15· · · ·A.· ·What I just looked at was page 6 of 50.

16· · · ·Q.· ·So when you're gesturing to the numbers, are

17· you talking about the sum of about 3.2 million?

18· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

19· · · ·Q.· ·So is it fair to say that your role with

20· respect to providing responses to these set of

21· interrogatories dealt with the financial part of the

22· project?

23· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

24· · · ·Q.· ·Let me direct your attention to page 46.· Do

25· you see that page?
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·1· · · ·A.· ·Um-hum.

·2· · · ·Q.· ·Do you have any reason why this page is

·3· unsigned?

·4· · · ·A.· ·No.

·5· · · ·Q.· ·Were you ever asked to sign a verification

·6· for these interrogatories?

·7· · · ·A.· ·No.

·8· · · ·Q.· ·Based on your review of these set of

·9· interrogatory responses, with respect to the financial

10· part of the questions, is there anything in there that

11· you saw that should be changed or clarified in any way?

12· And you can take your time to look through the

13· documents if you need to.

14· · · ·A.· ·Not without my documents in front of me, I

15· could not verify anything under oath, I'm sorry.

16· · · ·Q.· ·Let's talk about the ManhattanWest mixed use

17· condominium project, which I'll refer to as the project

18· as shorthand.· What was -- scratch that.

19· · · · · · APCO's role with respect to the project was

20· general contractor, correct?

21· · · ·A.· ·Yes, sir.

22· · · ·Q.· ·And that role lasted until September 20,

23· 2008, correct?

24· · · ·A.· ·August 21st, 2008.

25· · · ·Q.· ·And when did APCO's role as general
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Las Vegas, Nevada; Thursday, January 11, 2018 

[Proceeding commenced at 9:59 a.m.] 

 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Now, I go to page 28, APCO 

Construction versus Gemstone Development.  It starts on page 28 and 

with the caption and the caption goes to page 45, okay.   

  THE MARSHAL:  I need to get Mr. Zimbelman on the phone, 

Judge.   

  THE COURT:  Are you getting Mr. Zimbelman on the phone? 

  All right.  APCO Construction versus Gemstone Development 

West, Inc.  Please state appearances of counsel. 

  MR. MOUNTEER:  Good morning, Your Honor, Cody 

Mounteer on behalf of APCO Construction.   

  MS. BACON:  Mary Bacon on behalf of APCO Construction. 

  MR. LAI:  I-Che Lai appearing for Zitting Brothers. 

  MR. TAYLOR:  John Taylor on behalf of National Wood 

Products. 

  MR. TOBLER:  Rich Tobler on behalf of National Wood 

Products. 

  THE COURT:  And on the telephone. 

  MR. ZIMBELMAN:  Your Honor, Eric Zimbelman on behalf of 

the Peel Brimley lien claimants and thank you for accommodating my 

need to appear by telephone today. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  That’s fine.  All right.  It’s -- we’ve got 

Plaintiff’s motion for reconsideration of Court’s order granting Peel 

AA 004447



 

3 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

Brimley lien claimants partial motion for summary judgment to preclude 

defenses based on pay-if-paid provisions; it’s Camco’s joinder to that 

motion; and it’s Plaintiff’s motion for reconsideration of Court’s order 

granting Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.’s partial motion for summary 

judgment.  All right.  Go ahead. 

  MS. BACON:  Good morning, Your Honor.  I’ll take -- can I 

take the Peel Brimley motion first? 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MS. BACON:  Okay.  Essentially, the motion is really boiled 

down to one key case in that we argue that in the Peel Brimley motion 

and in this Court’s decision, in erred on relying on the Lehrer case.  In the 

Lehrer case, the Nevada Supreme Court specifically decided mechanic’s 

lien waivers and pay-if-paid language in conjunction with the mechanic’s 

lien waiver, the Lehrer Court did not decide a simply pay-if-paid language 

without a mechanic’s lien waiver.   

  The only case that we have found or the Nevada Supreme 

Court addresses pay-if-paid language is the Padilla case.  And in that 

case, which was very similar to our case, there was an owner payment 

condition precedent in which the subcontractor would not -- sorry, the 

general contractor’s payment to the subcontractor was not triggered until 

the owner paid the general contractor.  And so for those reasons, we’re 

seeking reconsideration.   

  Essentially, it is our opinion that in a labor or mechanic’s lien 

the Nevada Supreme Court has decided that that has to be decided on a 

case-by-case basis.  And in those cases, a mechanic’s lien -- well, when 
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a mechanic’s lien waiver is contained in a contract, the subcontractor still 

has a remedy, that would be to pursue the general.  In the instance of the 

pay-if-paid language combined with the waiver of mechanic’s lien, the 

sub has no remedy.  They cannot leave the property.  They cannot 

pursue the general.   

  But in the event of the pay-if-paid language, which is really the 

owner payment precondition, the subcontractor still has the ability to lien 

the property which is a remedy.  And so in this case, the parties have 

agreed, they’re sophisticated parties, they agreed to -- 

  THE COURT:  What effect does a lien have if the agreement 

that it secures is unenforceable? 

  MS. BACON:  It was not immediately unenforceable and, 

obviously, not within contemplation of the parties.  The lien -- they were 

still allowed to pursue their lien rights.  And I think what’s important to 

note in this case is, those parties did pursue those lien rights and the 

general contractor, APCO, spearheaded and financed those rights.  So it 

shows good faith on all behalf.  

   APCO was not in any instance trying to prohibit these lien 

claimants from getting paid.  It wanted to; it helped them; it wanted to get 

paid as well.  Within the subcontract, it was merely allocating the risk and 

protecting itself from being the owner’s lender which is not a general 

contractor’s job.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah, I think you made the point in your paper 

that it was, in effect, they were guaranteeing the obligation that -- but they 

actually have a contract directly with the -- it’s not a guarantee contract, 
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it’s a direct contract between the subcontractor and the contractor, so.  I 

don’t think they’re stepping into the shoes of being a guarantor.   

  MS. BACON:  Correct.  Correct.  But it would make them the 

effective guarantor of the lender if they were the only party held 

responsible.  And within the subcontracts, at least at issue in this case, 

the very sophisticated business parties agreed to these conditions.  

APCO specifically agreed to these provisions, in the event that something 

happened where the owner wasn’t paying.   

  So this was not a waiver that said, look, regardless of 

whatever happens on the job, if it’s APCO’s fault, if something else 

doesn’t come in, there’s no remedy.  It’s saying if the owner doesn’t pay 

us, we can’t pay you and they agreed to that.  And so when the Nevada 

Supreme Court and this Court has analyzed that situation -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, I don’t think Padilla was even close to a 

pay-if-paid scenario. 

  MS. BACON:  In that case, I believe, the subcontract said that 

the general would get -- I’m sorry, the subcontractor would get paid ten 

days after the general was paid for the -- sorry, the owner paid the 

general for the subcontractor’s work.   

  In this case, the subcontract does not say we’re going to pay 

you if we get paid.  It says, as a condition precedent to payment, we have 

to first receive your payment from the owner, then we will pay you.  So 

it’s very similar in that the owner’s payment was a precondition.  So 

regardless if that was ten days or undefined in that context, it was simply, 

we need to receive the owner’s check before we have the money to pay 
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you. 

  THE COURT:  But in that case, the fact of non-payment had to 

do with the fact that the construction was defective.  They didn’t, I mean, 

it had -- didn’t have anything to do with pay-if-paid.   

  MS. BACON:  So in -- in that case, there was also the issue of 

whether or not the work was defective, but the Supreme Court, when it 

affirmed your decision said, because the owner never accepted the work 

and because payment was never made to the subcontractor -- 

  THE COURT:  Well, if payment had been made that would 

have been an indication that the owner had accepted the work. 

  MS. BACON:  Absolutely.  But the Supreme Court found on 

two separate basis as two conditions precedent to payment and made 

the point to say then payment never became due under 624 or under the 

subcontract.  So it didn’t say just because the work was deficient and the 

owner didn’t accept it, it said for these two reasons; and so our argument 

is that this case is the exact same as Padilla.  There was owner condition 

-- sorry, owner payment precondition to the subcontractor receiving 

payment and it was not met. 

  THE COURT:  All right. 

  MS. BACON:  And at this point -- in other briefing, and I’m 

sure at trial, we’ll be able to argue that the owner couldn’t accept the 

work because the project was shut down and other things, but as 

relevant to today’s pay-if-paid provisions, I believe that it would be correct 

for this Court to analyze our situation under the Padilla analysis as 

compared to the pay-if-paid learner analysis which did not account for 

AA 004451



 

7 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

this situation. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. BACON:  Thank you, Your Honor.  

  THE COURT:  So should I also hear the Zitting Brothers’ 

motion before I hear from Defendant or should I take these piecemeal?   

  MS. BACON:  I was thinking, it might be easier to keep them 

separate and then also Eric, oh, sorry, Mr. Zimbelman and National 

Wood might be able to leave ‘cause they’re not really involved in the 

Zitting motion. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Response. 

  MR. ZIMBELMAN:  Your Honor, Eric Zimbelman here.  Would 

you like me to proceed? 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Go ahead. 

  MR. ZIMBELMAN:  So on behalf of the Peel Brimley lien 

claimants -- and I -- just listening to Your Honor’s reaction to argument by 

APCO’s counsel, it doesn’t seem you’re inclined to grant reconsideration 

or should you, but if you are and I’ll respond, really, to it this way.  We’ve 

had this exact same oral argument not long ago in front of you, before 

you granted the motion.  They brought up the Padilla case at that time.  I 

responded at that time.   

  Padilla is clearly not the same case as we have here.  There 

are no allegations pertaining to defective work or nonconforming work.  In 

fact, there’s motions in limine that have been granted with respect to 

those issues.  The simple fact is is that NRS 624.624 requires payment to 

be made promptly pursuant to the statute.  If you say the payment is not 
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due until we get paid, that’s pay-if-paid.  And therefore, you can 

effectively avoid the intent purpose of 624.624 by making your payment 

always due when payment is made.   

  In other words, incorporate pay-if-paid into your agreement.  

This is plainly not the intent or purpose of the Supreme Court’s decision 

in what they’re calling the Lehrer case, I like to call the Bullock case and 

that is very good law as indicated in my opposition brief based upon the 

Cashman case which is also a recent and published Supreme Court 

decision.  So the simple fact is they want to rely on pay-if-paid, you have 

ruled properly that it isn’t a valid defense and you should not reconsider 

your decision.  Thank you. 

  MR. TAYLOR:  Yes, Your Honor, just briefly to add to Mr. 

Zimbelman’s comments.  In the Padilla case, the Supreme Court first 

looked at the breach of contract claim and determined that there was no 

breach of contract because the work was defective and it affirmed the 

imminent trial judge in -- in that regard.  There’s no mention in the breach 

of contract analysis of the pay-if-paid language.  It’s in the next section 

where it’s talking about the negligence per se claim that there’s a 

tangential reference to the pay-if-paid issue.   

  Basically, what the Supreme Court said was, since you 

already lost on the contract claim, with no mention of pay-if-paid, there 

could be no negligence per se and the reference to the language in the 

contract is basically throwaway language that wasn’t the reason for the 

Supreme Court’s decision.  Padilla is not applicable here.  It shouldn’t 

warrant reconsideration or a change of the prior ruling.  Thank you.   
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  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you. 

  MS. BACON:  First, Your Honor, the Cashman case that Mr. 

Zimbelman alluded to in the three categories of cases I mentioned 

earlier, the mechanic’s lien case, the case of opinion of the mechanic’s 

lien waiver with pay-if-paid, and a pay-if-paid language as a third 

category, that was in the first category.  It was a mechanic’s lien waiver 

case and -- and it doesn’t -- the situation is not similar to this case at all.  

If the Court is to decide this case, it should be under the only similar case 

any of the parties have presented to this Court where it was just the 

quote/unquote pay-if-paid language, I like to call it a owner payment 

precondition; regardless, the Cashman case is inapposite for that reason; 

it didn’t even have pay-if-paid language in it.   

  There was a reference to -- and this is unenforceable, but it 

was solely a mechanic’s lien waiver case.  And that case was decided 

before Padilla, so to the extent that -- the Court had the benefit of that 

case before it decided the Padilla case and still decided the Padilla case 

as payment never became due under either 624.624 or the subcontract.  

To the extent that there were arguments regarding that, you know, that 

wouldn’t be relevant because it’s not a negligence per se case, those 

arguments would have no merit. 

  Additionally, this Court found in the Padilla case at the trial 

court level, contrary to Mr. Zimbelman’s argument that 624.624 is 

designed to ensure that the general pays sub -- pays subcontractors 

promptly after the general contractor receives payment from the owner 

associated with the work performed on the subcontract.  So that goes to 
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our earlier position that 624.624 is not to turn general contractors into the 

owner’s lender or the owner’s guarantor as this Court has previously 

found; 624.624 was designed to ensure that its subcontractors are 

promptly paid after the general receives payment for their work. 

  And to National Wood’s point, he said it was more than a two-

step analysis that first they decided that -- that the work was deficient, 

that the owner never accepted it so they didn’t hit the second subject of 

whether or not the owner precondition was that owner payment 

precondition was valid.  That analysis or argument is not supported in the 

text or the decision at all.   

  The Court -- if it was not deciding the decision on two reasons, 

it certainly would not have stated the second one.  It, instead, said, 

because the party’s subcontract contained the scheduled payments that 

required Padilla to be paid within ten days after the owner accepted 

Padilla’s work and paid Big-D for the work, it is undisputed that the owner 

never accepted Padilla’s work and never paid Big-D for Padilla’s work.  

The district court correctly found the payment never became due to 

Padilla under the subcontract or under NRS 24 -- sorry, 624.624. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  I’ll now hear the Zitting 

motion. 

  MS. BACON:  I’ll take one second.  Your Honor, this motion 

was 39 pages, is there something in particular that you wanted me to 

address or should I just run through it?   

  THE COURT:  No, it’s well-briefed.  I think I understand what 

your intentions are.  
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  MS. BACON:  Okay.  I’ll -- I’ll give you a couple of highlights 

then then -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. BACON:  -- and I’ll let -- let me know if you have any 

questions.   

  One of the key things that APCO would like to point out is 

there were at least eight disputed material facts in APCO’s original 

opposition that were not addressed in -- or at least, not adequately 

addressed, in the reply.  And so to the extent that those were not decided 

and those were important things including, but not limited to, whether or 

not the drywall was complete, whether or not Zitting actually invoiced 

APCO for these change orders that it allegedly submitted on the job.  

APCO wasn’t on site so who we gave these change orders to, whether or 

not they went to Camco, whether or not they were approved.  It also 

represented that it didn’t do any work for Camco in that reply and later at 

the deposition, we found out that that was not accurate.   

  So not only did we point out these eight disputed material 

facts that they didn’t address in their original reply, we think that is very 

important.  And then, additionally, once the -- as this Court knows, once 

everything was briefed, the parties let you know that they had entered 

into an agreement to attempt to save money and funds for settlement and 

had delayed some discovery.  And this Court ordered discovery 

reopened as to depositions for certain parties that had previously agreed 

to that.  And in delaying discovery so much, the parties understood they 

were taking a risk.  They were taking a risk that they were leaving facts 
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on the table that nobody knew and they were delaying them to the end to 

save money. 

  So APCO understood this.  Zitting understood this.  And the 

parties still agreed, with their attorneys, to delay this discovery.  When we 

realized, or when this Court realized and the parties realized, that 

settlement may not be possible and we were at calendar call, the Court 

reopened discovery.  At that deposition, the party -- Zitting was asked 

about several of the facts and material statements that it submitted to this 

Court in its motion for summary judgment as, I believe it was, Exhibit A to 

the motion.  It was an affidavit by Mr. Sam Zitting.  Mr. Zitting in that 

affidavit confirmed to this Court all of the preconditions to precedent -- 

sorry, preconditions to payment were met including the drywall was 

complete.  He had submitted closeout documents.   

  Other preconditions, at his deposition and you have the 

testimony in your briefing so I’m not going to go through it in detail, he 

basically confirmed he’s not aware of whether or not they were closeout 

documents.  He’s not aware of whether -- he said, oh, it does look like 

certain change orders were rejected.  He said that oh he did now do work 

for Camco.  So unfortunately, I believe Zitting waived their argument to 

say oh this is all coming out at the last second.   Because it specifically 

agree let’s delay these depositions, let’s save money for settlement.  So 

in agreeing to do that, it understood that new depositions or new 

evidence, it was clear that new evidence was going to come out in 

discovery.   

  This wasn’t just an exercise to allow lawyers to bill for 
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depositions and go through documents.  We prepared.  We were ready.  

We got the information we needed.  If you were going to make an 

argument that you’re biased, because everything was waiting until -- it 

was postponed until the end, then you shouldn’t have entered into that 

agreement in the first place.  If you were uncomfortable as an attorney or 

as a client, then you should have said no.  We need to comply with this 

and instead they agreed.   

  Instead they said, yes, not once, but twice.  We noticed their 

deposition.  Twice that deposition was postponed for settlement 

discussions.  If they were interested in having that information and relying 

on whichever defense that was in interrogatory, one, there were more 

formal ways to go ahead and try and strike that such as motion for 

summary judgment and/or motion to strike.  And instead, sorry, they’re 

relying on that answer to an interrogatory when Zitting actually asked our 

PMK -- there were two PMKs from APCO for this project.   

  The P -- one of the PMK’s testified they didn’t meet the 

conditions precedent to payment.  They didn’t meet 3.8.  We were not 

paid.  So at that point, if Zitting was relying on APCO’s response when 

interrogatory, they should have said, whoa, what’s going on here?  Now, 

you’re testifying that there are other reasons.  You’re testifying that there 

are other affirmative defenses.  You were testifying that there’s 16 more 

reasons that we are not paid.   

  And at that point, they should have been on notice to say one, 

we need to either speak with our client more clearly about these things 

and confirm that we have met the conditions precedent to payment.  Or 

AA 004458



 

14 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

two, we need to go ahead and confirm these because there’s -- they 

shouldn’t be allowed to notice APCO’s PMK, let them talk about other 

defenses that we’re asserting, and then say they have no notice of these 

defenses.  As is copied and pasted for, I think, six pages in my motion, 

we testified about those defenses at length. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MS. BACON:  Oh, and to the extent that this Court wants to -- 

to not grant this motion for reconsideration, we believe that it would be 

appropriate to, and would be necessary to, have an evidentiary hearing 

on the Young factors because, essentially, what Zitting has argued are -- 

is and what was granted is case terminating sanctions for failing to 

update an interrogatory.  And so we believe that more would be 

necessary because we believe from the Court’s order that -- and Zitting 

will likely argue this, that our supplemental brief was not taken into 

account because it was quote/unquote too little, too late.   

  However, any argument, I believe, they’re going to make 

regarding that it was delayed, they waived when they agreed to it.  They 

waived when they agreed with APCO’s counsel to postpone that 

deposition.  They waived it when they came into this courtroom and said, 

yes, we did agree to that.  We’re going to go ahead and get deposed.  

They waived it when this Court ordered that they had to be deposed.  We 

were not just supposed to sit on that information and do nothing.  And to 

the extent that it’s relevant, Zitting’s counsel requested that the 

deposition be continued. 

  THE COURT:  All right. 
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  MS. BACON:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Thank you. 

  MR. LAI:  Your Honor, as Mr. Zimbelman mentioned earlier, 

the motion before this Court is a reconsideration motion.  The only way 

for this Court to reconsider the motion if -- if APCO’s counsel 

demonstrates a clear error with this Court’s decision and as Ms. Bacon 

has argued, these issues have arisen at the prior hearing so these -- this 

Court has already considered the prior arguments.  Nothing new has 

came out and it had not shown that this Court made a clear mistake in 

precluding all evidence other than the pay-if-paid defense.   

  And I’ll kind of briefly highlight some of the responses in Ms. 

Bacon’s argument.  On the -- the preclusion of all the other evidence, 

there needs to be either an absence of substantial justification for them 

not to disclose the -- the factual grounds in response to our 2010 

interrogatories.   

  Now, the fact that they mention all these continuances, these 

waivers, those occurred in 2017, seven years after the fact, after APCO 

has already admitted three separate occasions that they’re only relying 

on the pay-if-paid provisions.  Seven years later, witnesses are gone, 

memories have faded, we have proceeded for seven years on this barely 

narrow defense opting not to conduct extensive discovery seven years 

prior, and all of a sudden, being blindsided 2017 for the first time that 

there’s the other factual basis for their -- for their affirmative defenses. 

  We even asked them in our 2010 interrogatories, what is the 

basis for this failure to comply with condition precedent?  That was 
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interrogatory number ten in our 2010 interrogatory.  They said in their at 

response that they only relied on the pay-if-paid provision.  So since 2010 

and consistently, we’ve been asking them just to confirm we were only 

dealing with the pay-if-paid provision and their very first 30(b)(6) dep -- 

PMK and 2017 confirmed that.   

  Once we heard all of that, we again just followed through, 

prepared a very simple MSJ, rebutting solely the pay-if-paid provision, 

not being enforceable and that’s all we did.  They’ve never shown that 

this was not prejudicial to the Zitting Brothers, they can’t, and under 

similar facts, a federal court in the Inamed decision that we cited to this 

Court, had precluded that defense.  So there’s no clear error.  This 

Court’s decision -- and it’s certainly not case-ending.   

  In the Bahena case, the Supreme Court defined case-ending 

as where the sanctions precluded all other litigation or any other issues.  

This Court let them proceed on the sole issue of the pay-if-paid provision 

because that’s what APCO wanted to proceed with.  That is not case-

ending.  The fact that they lost on the issue does not make the preclusion 

itself case-ending.  And on that basis, we submit our briefs. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you. 

  MS. BACON:  Just a couple of key points.  I’d just like to 

incorporate our pay-if-paid arguments as part of the last motion in this 

one which will be relevant.  And as the Court’s order read, it’s at least my 

understanding that, that new evidence was not considered so our new 

evidence would be that deposition testimony, that discovery, that we 

were allowed to conduct that the parties agreed to that Court ordered that 
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as the Court’s order reads now, my understanding, was not considered in 

the last decision.   

  And so what I’m -- what our position is now is that is the new 

evidence.  It was error.  When you compare the deposition testimony as 

presented in our motion to the affidavit that his client submitted to this 

Court, you can see that there are just clear inconsistencies.  And to the 

extent that Zitting claims more prejudice, they had the information within 

their knowledge the entire time.   

  They could’ve asked their client, was the drywall completed?  

He would’ve said no ‘cause we asked him and he honestly answered, in 

our deposition, was the drywall completed, and he said no.  They 

could’ve asked him, did you submit closeout documents?  And he 

would’ve said no.  Or he would’ve at least -- in his deposition, I don’t 

believe he exactly said no, but he said something to the effect of, I’m not 

aware of them being submitted and also I’m not aware of any documents 

in my file.  

  So to the extent that they filed an affidavit with this Court to 

grant that motion for summary judgment saying it complied with those 

five conditions precedent, they knew when they signed -- they should’ve 

at least known then when they just sent this draft affidavit to their client 

saying please sign this.  Or please check it for factual accuracy.  Is it 

correct?   

  Well, assuming that Mr. Zitting would’ve given the same 

responses that he gave to APCO in his deposition, he would not have 

been able to sign that.  His affidavit he submitted for -- to this Court was 
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directly contradictory to his deposition testimony and I think that 

deposition testimony needs to be taken into account, at least for 

purposes of this motion, because the Court ordered the discovery, Zitting 

agreed to delay the discovery.  Any prejudice that they’re suffering is 

because they asked us to delay the deposition, and we did.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  All things considered, the 

respective motions and joinder are denied.  So I’ll ask counsel for, what, 

Peel Brimley lien claimants and Zitting to submit proposed orders. 

  MR. LAI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.   

  MR. LAI:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  MS. BACON:  Thank you. 

  MR. TAYLOR:  Your Honor, I have one other -- one other 

matter. 

  THE COURT:  I’ll be seeing you -- I’ll be seeing you on 

Tuesday because I’ve signed an order shortening time on a motion that’s 

seeking a stay, okay, so.  I just signed that this morning, so it’s going to 

have to be served and everything.  

  MR. TAYLOR:  Well, one other quick housekeeping matter.  

I’m here pro hac vice.  Mr. Tobler has be ably assisting me.  I had 

another trial in Las Vegas a few years back and Judge Johnson agreed 

that that for purposes of trial, I would be at the trial and Mr. Tobler would 

merely be available should either I need him or should she think that 

somehow I was needing that assistance.  I’ve talked to some of the 

counsel and no one has indicated any problem with that.  I’d just like to 
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see how this Court whether it would allow me to appear with Mr. Tobler 

merely being available and not in the courtroom. 

  THE COURT:  Any objection? 

  MR. MOUNTEER:  No objection, Your Honor. 

  MS. BACON:  No objections, Your Honor.  

  THE COURT:  I’ll allow it. 

  MR. TAYLOR:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you. 

  MS. BACON:  Your Honor, one -- one other procedural matter, 

I believe that [indiscernible] set this motion for attorney’s fees hearing 

next week on a Thursday.  Or it was signed into the Zitting order.  Can 

you -- 

  MR. LAI:  It was, Your Honor.  And the parties asked for 

briefing 30 days from the date of the order was signed which was in late 

December of which would be in conflict with the scheduled hearing.  And 

I think the parties are in agreement that whether the Court can continue 

the hearing to allow adequate briefing, especially with counsel here 

preparing for trial, we think it would be fair for them to have additional 

time to respond. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MS. BACON:  And we would appreciate that immensely. 

  THE COURT:  When would you like to have it continued to? 

  MR. LAI:  I’ll defer to counsel like I said ‘cause she’s, again, is 

prepping for trial, so. 

  MS. BACON:  Could you submit the motion in the -- in the next 
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two weeks -- 

  MR. LAI:  Yeah. 

  MS. BACON:  -- and then we’ll go on a normal briefing 

schedule and Your Honor can assign a date? 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, it’s already on calendar for the 

18th, right? 

  MS. BACON:  Yes. 

  MR. LAI:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  So -- 

  MS. BACON:  Oh could -- could we move it out a month? 

  THE COURT:  Sure. 

  MS. BACON:  Or six weeks? 

  THE COURT:  Any problem? 

  MR. LAI:  That works for us.  Whatever counsel wants. 

  THE COURT:  Let’s put it in February sometime.  Hold on a 

second. 

  MR ZIMBELMAN:  Your Honor, Eric Zimbelman on the phone.  

May I ask a question, please? 

  THE COURT:  Yes.   

  MR. ZIMBELMAN:  I heard something about a motion for a 

stay, could I just ask whichever party is submitting that to send out 

courtesy copies given that apparently a hearing is set for Tuesday? 

  MR. MOUNTEER:  Yeah.  It’ll be sent out this morning, Your 

Honor.  We just found out it was signed.  

  THE COURT:  Did you hear that?  It’ll be sent this morning. 
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  MR. ZIMBELMAN:  Thank you very much. 

  THE COURT:  Now the date for the hearing on the motion for 

attorney’s fees? 

  THE CLERK:  March 1st. 

  THE COURT:  What’s that? 

  THE CLERK:  March 1st. 

  THE COURT:  March 1st okay for that hearing on that motion 

for attorney’s fees? 

  MR. LAI:  That works for us. 

  MS. BACON:  That works for us. 

  THE COURT:  Do I need to set a briefing schedule or can you 

just -- 

  MR. LAI:  The briefing schedule is actually set in the order, but 

if the Court will like, we’ll defer to this Court’s schedule. 

  MS. BACON:  We’ll work it out. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Appreciate that. 

  MS. BACON:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Thank you.   

 [Proceeding concluded at 10:27 a.m.] 

* * * * * * * 

ATTEST:    I do hereby certify that I have truly and correctly transcribed the 

audio/video proceedings in the above-entitled case to the best of my ability. 
      
  

     _____________________________ 
      Jennifer P. Gerold 
      Court Recorder/Transcriber 
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ezimbelman@peelbrimley.com  
rpeel@peelbrimley.com    
Attorneys for Various Lien Claimants 
 

 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

APCO CONSTRUCTION, a Nevada 
corporation, 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
vs 
 
GEMSTONE DEVELOPMENT WEST, INC., 
Nevada corporation; NEVADA 
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES, a Nevada 
corporation; SCOTT FINANCIAL 
CORPORATION, a North Dakota corporation; 
COMMONWEALTH LAND TITLE 
INSURANCE COMPANY; FIRST 
AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE 
COMPANY and DOES I through X, 
 
   Defendants. 

CASE NO.:   A571228 
 
DEPT. NO.:   XIII 
 
Consolidated with: 
A571792, A574391, A577623, A580889,  
A583289, A584730, and A587168 
 
 
NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER 
 

AND ALL RELATED MATTERS. 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an Order Denying APCO Construction's Motion for 

Reconsideration of Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment Precluding Defenses Based on 

Pay-if-Paid Agreements was filed on January 19, 2018, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A. 

 

PEEL BRIMLEY, LLP 

 
        
       _/s/ Eric Zimbelman ______________ 

ERIC B. ZIMBELMAN, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9407 
3333 E. Serene Avenue, Suite 200 
Henderson, Nevada 89074-6571 
Attorneys for Various Lien Claimants 

Case Number: 08A571228

Electronically Filed
1/19/2018 11:08 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of PEEL BRIMLEY LLP and 

that on this 19th day of January 19, 2018, I caused the above and foregoing document entitled 

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER to be served as follows: 

 

  by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 

envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada to the 

party(ies) and/or attorney(s) listed below; and/or 

 

  to registered parties via Wiznet, the Court’s electronic filing system;  

 

  pursuant to EDCR 7.26, to be sent via facsimile;  

 

  to be hand-delivered; and/or 

 

 other ________________________ 

 

  
 
 

 

     /s/ Amanda Armstrong   

          An Employee of Peel Brimley LLP 

AA 004470
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1255371v.1

D E C L
JORGE RAMIREZ, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6787
I-CHE LAI, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 12247
WILSON, ELSER, MOSKOWITZ, EDELMAN & DICKER LLP
300 South 4th Street, 11th Floor
Las Vegas, NV 89101-6014
Telephone: (702) 727-1400
Facsimile: (702) 727-1401
Jorge.Ramirez@wilsonelser.com
I-Che.Lai@wilsonelser.com
Attorneys for Lien Clamant,
Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.

D IS TRIC T C O URT

C L A RK C O UN TY ,N E V A D A

APCO CONSTRUCTION, a Nevada
corporation,

Plaintiff,

vs.

GEMSTONE DEVELOPMENT WEST, INC.,
a Nevada corporation,

Defendant.

CASE NO. A571228
DEPT. NO. XIII

Consolidated with:
A574391; A574792; A577623; A583289;
A587168; A580889; A584730; A589195;
A595552; A597089; A592826; A589677;
A596924; A584960; A608717; A608718; and
A590319

Date of Hearing: March 1, 2018
Time of Hearing: 9:00 a.m.AND ALL RELATED MATTERS

D E C L A RA TIO N O F S A M ZITTIN G IN S UP P O RT O F ZITTIN G B RO TH E RS
C O N S TRUC TIO N ,IN C .’S M E M O RA N D UM IN S UP P O RT O F A P C O C O N S TRUC TIO N ,

IN C .’S P A Y M E N T O F A TTO RN E Y S ’FE E S ,C O S TS ,A N D IN TE RE S T TO ZITTIN G
B RO TH E RS C O N S TRUC TIO N ,IN C .

I, Sam Zitting, declare as follows:

1. I am over eighteen years of age and competent to testify in a court of law.

2. I am the President of Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc. (“Zitting”).

3. I have personal knowledge of the facts set forth below, unless otherwise stated. If

called upon to testify, I will do so truthfully.

4. I make this declaration in support of Zitting’s Memorandum in Support of APCO

Construction, Inc.’s Payment of Attorney’s Fees, Costs, and Interest to Zitting Brothers

Construction, Inc (the “Memorandum”).

AA 004486
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

APCO CONSTRUCTION, INC., A 

NEVADA CORPORATION, 

 

    Appellant, 

 

 vs. 

 

ZITTING BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, 

INC., 

 

    Respondent. 

 

 

 

 

Case No.: 75197 

 

 

 

 

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial 

District Court, the Honorable Mark 

Denton Presiding 

 

APPELLANT’S APPENDIX 

(Volume 19, Bates Nos. 4254–4487) 

Marquis Aurbach Coffing 

Micah S. Echols, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 8437 

Cody S. Mounteer, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 11220 

Tom W. Stewart, Esq. 

Nevada Bar No. 14280 

10001 Park Run Drive 

Las Vegas, Nevada 89145 

Telephone: (702) 382-0711 

Facsimile: (702) 382-5816 

mechols@maclaw.com 

cmounteer@maclaw.com 

tstewart@maclaw.com 

 

Spencer Fane LLP 

John Randall Jefferies, Esq.  

Nevada Bar No. 3512 

Mary E. Bacon, Esq.  

Nevada Bar No. 12686 

300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 950 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 

Telephone: (702) 408-3400 

Facsimile: (702) 408-3401 

rjeffries@spencerfane.com 

mbacon@spencerfane.com 

 

Attorneys for Appellant, APCO Construction, Inc. 
  

Electronically Filed
Apr 15 2019 03:01 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Docket 75197   Document 2019-16434
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INDEX TO APPELLANT’S APPENDIX 

Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

10/24/2008 Atlas Construction Supply, Inc.’s 
Complaint 

 1 AA 1–16 

10/30/2008 Ahern Rentals, Inc.’s Complaint  1 AA 17–30 

11/19/2008 Platte River Insurance Company’s Answer 
and Crossclaim 

 1 AA 31–45 

12/08/2008 APCO Construction’s First Amended 
Complaint 

 1 AA 46–63 

02/06/2009 Cabinetec’s Statement and Complaint  1 AA 64–73 

02/23/2009 Uintah’s Complaint  1 AA 74–80 

02/24/2009 Tri-City Drywall, Inc.’s Statement and 
Complaint 

 1 AA 81–88 

03/02/2009 Noorda Sheet Metal Company’s Statement 
and Complaint 

 1 AA 89–165 

03/06/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company’s 
Answer and Counterclaim 

 1 AA 166–172 

03/10/2009 The Masonry Group Nevada’s Complaint  1 AA 173–189 

03/11/2009 PCI Group, LLC Complaint  1 AA 190–196 

03/12/2009 APCO Construction’s Answer to Steel 
Structures, Inc, and Nevada Prefab 
Engineers, Inc.’s Amended Statement and 
Crossclaim 

 1 AA 197–216 

03/12/2009 Cell-Crete Fireproofing of Nevada, Inc.’s 
Statement and Complaint 

 1 AA 217–233 

03/20/2009 Steel Structures, Inc. and Nevada Prefab 
Engineers, Inc.’s Second Amended 
Statement and Complaint 

 1 AA 234–243 

03/24/2009 Insulpro Projects, Inc.’s Statement   2 AA 244–264 

03/26/2009 APCO Construction’s Statement and 
Complaint  

 2 AA 265–278 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

03/27/2009 Dave Peterson Framing, Inc.’s Statement, 
Complaint, and Third-Party Complaint 

 2 AA 279–327  

03/27/2009 E&E Fire Protection, LLC’s Statement, 
Complaint, and Third-Party Complaint 

 2 AA 328–371  

03/27/2009 Professional Doors and Millworks, LLC’s 
Statement, Complaint, and Third-Party 
Complaint 

 2 AA 372–483 

04/03/2009 Hydropressure Cleaning, Inc.’s Statement 
and Complaint  

 3 AA 484–498 

04/03/2009 Ready Mix, Inc.’s Statement and First 
Amended Complaint 

 3 AA 499–510 

04/06/2009 EZA P.C. dba Oz Architecture of Nevada, 
Inc.’s Statement  

 3 AA 511–514 

04/07/2012 Accuracy Glass & Mirror Company, Inc.’s 
Complaint  

 3 AA 515–550 

04/08/2009 John Deere Landscapes, Inc.’s Statement, 
Complaint, and Third-Party Complaint 

 3 AA 551–558 

04/14/2009 Helix Electric of Nevada, LLC’s Statement 
and Third-Party Complaint  

 3 AA 559–595 

04/17/2009 Republic Crane Service, LLC’s Complaint  3 AA 596–607 

04/24/2019 Bruin Painting’s Statement and Third-Party 
Complaint 

 3 AA 608–641 

04/24/2009 HD Supply Waterworks, LP’s Statement 
and Third-Party Complaint 

 3 AA 642–680 

04/24/2009 The Pressure Grout Company’s Statement 
and Complaint  

 3 AA 681–689 

04/27/2009 Heinaman Contract Glazing’s Complaint  3 AA 690–724 

04/28/2009 WRG Design, Inc.’s Statement and Third-
Party Complaint  

 4 AA 725–761 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

04/29/2009 APCO Construction’s Answer to Cell-Crete 
Fireproofing of Nevada, Inc.’s Statement 
and Complaint and Crossclaim  

 4 AA 762–784 

04/29/2009 Executive Plastering, Inc.’s Statement   4 AA 785–792 

04/30/2009 Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.’s 
Complaint Re: Foreclosure 

 4 AA 793–810 

05/05/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Noorda Sheet Metal 
Company’s Third-Party Complaint and 
Camco Pacific Construction’s 
Counterclaim  

 4 AA 811–828 

05/05/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Professional Doors 
and Millworks, LLC’s Third-Party 
Complaint and Camco Pacific 
Construction’s Counterclaim  

 4 AA 829–846 

05/05/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to E&E Fire 
Protection, LLC’s Third-Party Complaint 
and Camco Pacific Construction’s 
Counterclaim 

 4 AA 847–864 

05/05/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to The Masonry Group 
Nevada, Inc.’s Complaint and Camco 
Pacific Construction’s Counterclaim  

 4 AA 865–882 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

05/05/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Cabinetec, Inc.’s 
Complaint and Camco Pacific 
Construction’s Counterclaim  

 4 AA 883–899 

05/05/2009 Graybar Electric Company, Inc.’s 
Complaint  

 4 AA 900–905 

05/05/2009 Olson Precast Company’s Complaint  4 AA 906–911 

05/13/2009 Fast Glass, Inc.’s Statement  4 AA 912–957 

05/14/2009 HD Supply Construction Supply, LP dba 
White Cap Construction Supply, Inc.’s 
Complaint  

 5 AA 958–981 

05/15/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Insulpro Projects, 
Inc.’s Complaint and Camco Pacific 
Construction’s Counterclaim 

 5 AA 982–999 

05/19/2009 Terra South Corporation dba Mad Dog 
Heavy Equipment’s Statement and Third-
Party Complaint  

 5 AA 1000–1008 

05/20/2009 Ahern Rental, Inc.’s Statement and 
Complaint 

 5 AA 1009–1018 

05/20/2009 Southwest Air Conditioning, Inc.’s 
Statement 

 5 AA 1019–1024 

05/27/2009 Ferguson Fire & Fabrication, Inc.’s 
Statement and Complaint 

 5 AA 1025–1033 

05/27/2009 Republic Crane Service, LLC’s Amended 
Statement  

 5 AA 1034–1044 

05/29/2009 Pape Material Handling dba Pape Rents’ 
Statement and Complaint 

 5 AA 1045–1057 

05/29/2009 Selectbuild Nevada, Inc.’s Statement   5 AA 1058–1070 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

06/01/2009 Buchele, Inc.’s Statement   5 AA 1071–1082 

06/01/2009 Renaissance Pools & Spas, Inc.’s Statement   5 AA 1083–1094 

06/03/2009 Executive Plastering, Inc.’s First Amended 
Complaint 

 5 AA 1095–1105 

06/10/2009 APCO Construction’s Answer to Zitting 
Brothers Construction, Inc.’s Complaint 

 5 AA 1106–1117 

06/12/2009 Supply Network dba Viking Supplynet’s 
Statement and Complaint  

 5 AA 1118–1123 

06/15/2009 Las Vegas Pipeline, LLC’s Statement and 
Complaint  

 5 AA 1124–1130 

06/16/2009 Creative Home Theatre, LLC’s Statement   5 AA 1131–1138 

06/23/2009 Inquipco’s Statement and Complaint   5 AA 1139–1146 

06/24/2009 Accuracy Glass & Mirror’s First Amended 
Complaint  

 5 AA 1147–1161 

06/24/2009 Bruin Painting’s Amended Statement and 
Third-Party Complaint 

 5 AA 1162–1173 

06/24/2009 HD Supply Waterworks’ Amended 
Statement and Third-Party Complaint 

 5 AA 1174–1190 

06/24/2009 Heinaman Contract Glazing’s Amended 
Statement and Third-Party Complaint 

 5 AA 1191–1202 

06/24/2009 Helix Electric of Nevada, LLC dba Helix 
Electric’s Amended Statement and Third-
Party Complaint 

 6 AA 1203–1217 

06/24/2009 WRG Design, Inc.’s Amended Statement 
and Third-Party Complaint 

 6 AA 1218–1233 

06/23/2009 Ahern Rentals, Inc.’s First Amended 
Statement and Complaint 

 6 AA 1234–1255 

07/07/2009 The Masonry Group Nevada, Inc.’s 
Statement and Complaint 

 6 AA 1256–1273 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

07/09/2009 Northstar Concrete, Inc.’s Statement and 
Complaint  

 6 AA 1274–1288 

07/10/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Statement and Complaint  

 6 AA 1289–1310 

7/22/2009 Granite Construction Company’s Statement 
and Complaint 

 6 AA 1311–1318 

08/10/2009 HA Fabricators, Inc.’s Complaint   6 AA 1319–1327  

08/18/2009 Club Vista Financial Services, LLC and 
Tharaldson Motels II, Inc.’s Answer to 
Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Statement and Complaint and 
Counterclaim  

 6 AA 1328–1416 

08/28/2009 Custom Select Billing, Inc.’s Statement and 
Complaint  

 6 AA 1417–1443 

09/09/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Answer to Las Vegas Pipeline, 
LLC’s Statement and Complaint and 
Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1444–1460 

09/10/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Dave Peterson 
Framing, Inc.’s Statement and Complaint 
and Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1461–1484 

09/10/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Northstar Concrete, 
Inc.’s Statement and Complaint and Camco 
Pacific Construction Company, Inc.’s 
Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1485–1505 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

09/10/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Tri-City Drywall, 
Inc.’s Statement and Complaint and Camco 
Pacific Construction Company, Inc.’s 
Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1506–1526 

09/11/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Accuracy Glass & 
Mirror Company, Inc.’s Complaint and 
Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Counterclaim 

 7 AA 1527–1545 

09/11/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Answer to Bruin Painting 
Corporation’s Statement and Third-Party 
Complaint and Camco Pacific Construction 
Company, Inc.’s Counterclaim 

 7 AA 1546–1564 

09/11/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Heinaman Contract 
Glazing’s Statement and Third-Party 
Complaint and Camco Pacific Construction 
Company, Inc.’s Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1565–1584 

09/11/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to WRG Design, Inc.’s 
Statement and Third-Party Complaint and 
Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1585–1604 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

09/25/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Nevada Prefab 
Engineers, Inc.’s Statement and Complaint 
and Camco Pacific Construction Company, 
Inc.’s Counterclaim 

 7 AA 1605–1622 

09/25/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland’s Answer to Steel Structures, 
Inc.’s Second Amended Statement and 
Complaint and Camco Pacific Construction 
Company, Inc.’s Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1623–1642 

09/30/2009 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
Answer to Executive Plastering, Inc.’s First 
Amended Complaint and Camco Pacific 
Construction Company, Inc.’s 
Counterclaim  

 7 AA 1643–1650 

10/19/2009 APCO Construction’s Answer to HA 
Fabricators, Inc.’s Answer, Counterclaim, 
and Third-Party Complaint 

 7 AA 1651–1673 

11/13/2009 Stipulation and Order for Dismissal of Steel 
Structures, Inc.’s Complaint Against 
Camco Pacific Construction, and Camco’s 
Counterclaim Against Steel Structures, Inc.  

 7 AA 1674–1675 

12/23/2009 Harsco Corporation’s Second Amended 
Complaint  

 7 AA 1676–1684 

01/22/2010 United Subcontractors, Inc. dba Skyline 
Insulation’s Complaint 

 7 AA 1685–1690 

04/05/2010 Interstate Plumbing & Air Conditioning, 
LLC’s Statement and Complaint 

 8 AA 1691–1721 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

04/13/2010 Camco Pacific Construction Company, Inc. 
and Fidelity and Deposit Company of 
Maryland Answer to Cactus Rose’s 
Statement and Complaint and Camco 
Pacific Construction Company, Inc.’s 
Counterclaim 

 8 AA 1722–1738 

07/01/2010 Stipulation and Order for Dismissal with 
Prejudice of Claims Asserted by Select 
Build Nevada, Inc. Against APCO 
Construction 

 8 AA 1739–1741 

05/23/2013 Notice of Entry of Order Approving Sale of 
Property 

 8 AA 1742–1808 

04/14/2016 Notice of Entry of Order Releasing Sale 
Proceeds from Court-Controlled Escrow 
Account 

 8 AA 1809–1818 

10/07/2016 Special Master Report Regarding 
Remaining Parties to the Litigation, Special 
Master Recommendation and District Court 
Order Amending Case Agenda  

 8 AA 1819–1822 

05/27/2017 Notice of Entry of Order   8 AA 1823–1830 

07/31/2017 Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.’s 
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 
Against APCO Construction 

 8 

 9 

 10 

AA 1831–1916 

AA 1917–2166 

AA 2167–2198 

08/02/2017 Peel Brimley Lien Claimants’ Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment Precluding 
Defenses Based on Pay-If-Paid Agreements 
and Ex Pate Application for Order 
Shortening Time 

 10 AA 2199–2263 

08/21/2017 APCO Construction’s Opposition to Zitting 
Brothers Construction Inc.’s Partial Motion 
for Summary Judgment 

 10 AA 2264–2329 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

08/21/2017 APCO’s opposition to Peel Brimley MSJ  10 AA 2330–2349 

09/20/2017 Order Granting Plaintiff’s Motion to 
Dismiss  

 10 AA 2350–2351 

09/28/2017 Peel Brimley Lien Claimants’ Reply to 
Oppositions to Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment Precluding Defenses Based On 
Pay-If-Paid Agreements 

 10 AA 2352–2357 

09/29/2017 Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.’s Reply 
In Support of Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment Against APCO Construction 

 10 AA 2358–2413 

10/05/2017 Recorder’s Transcript of Hearing RE: All 
Pending Motions 

 11 AA 2414–2433 

11/06/2017 Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.’s 
Motion in Limine to Limit the Defenses of 
APCO Construction to the Enforceability of 
Pay-If-Paid Provision 

 11 AA 2434–2627 

11/06/2017 APCO’s Supplemental Briefing in 
Opposition to Zitting Brothers 
Construction, Inc.’s Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment Against APCO 
Construction. Inc. 

 12 AA 2628–2789 

11/14/2017 APCO Construction’s Opposition to Zitting 
Brothers Construction, Inc.’s Motion in 
Limine to Limit the Defenses of APCO 
Construction to the Enforceability of a Pay-
If-Paid Provision 

 12 

 13 

 14 

AA 2790–2851 

AA 2852–3053 

AA 3054–3108 

11/16/2017 Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.’s Reply 
in Support of Motion in Limine to Limit the 
Defenses of APCO Construction (“APCO”) 
to the Enforceability of Pay-If-Pay 
Provision 

 14 AA 3109–3160 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

11/16/2017 Recorder’s Transcript of Hearing RE: All 
Pending Motions 

 14 AA 3161–3176 

11/16/2017 Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc.’s 
Response to APCO Construction’s 
Supplemental Opposition to Zitting 
Brothers Construction, Inc.’s Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment 

 14 AA 3177–3234 

11/27/2017 Decision  14 AA 3235–3237 

12/05/2017 Court Minutes Granting Zitting MIL  14 AA 3238 

12/29/2017 Findings of Fact Conclusions of Law, and 
Granting Zitting Brothers Construction, 
Inc.’s Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment Against APCO Construction 

 14 AA 3239–3249 

01/02/2018 Order Granting Peel Brimley Lien 
Claimants’ Motion for Partial Summary 
Judgment Precluding Defenses Based on 
Pay-If-Paid Agreements 

 14 AA 3250–3255 

01/02/2018 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Zitting 
Brothers Construction, Inc.’s MSJ 

 14 AA 3256–3268 

01/03/2018 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Peel 
Brimley MSJ 

 14 AA 3269–3280 

01/04/2018 Motion for Reconsideration of Court’s 
Order Granting Peel Brimley Lien 
Claimants’ Partial Motion for Summary 
Judgment to Preclude Defenses Based on 
Pay If Paid Provisions on an Order 
Shortening Time 

 15 

 16 

AA 3281–3517 

AA 3518–3633 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

01/08/2018 Motion for Reconsideration of Court’s 
Order Granting Zitting Brothers 
Construction, Inc.’s Partial Motion for 
Summary Judgment and Ex Parte 
Application for Order Shortening Time and 
to Exceed Page Limit 

 16 

 17 

 18 

 19 

AA 3634–3763 

AA 3764–4013 

AA 4014–4253 

AA 4254–4344 

01/09/2018 Plaintiff in Intervention, National Wood 
Products, Inc.’s Opposition to APCO 
Construction’s Motion for Reconsideration 
of the Court’s Order Granting Peel Brimley 
Lien Claimants’ Motion for Partial 
Summary Judgment to Preclude Defenses 
of Pay if Paid Provisions 

 19 AA 4345–4350 

01/09/2018 Peel Brimley Lien Claimants’ Opposition 
to APCO Construction’s Motion for 
Reconsideration of Order Granting Partial 
Summary Judgment Precluding Defenses 
Based on Pay-If-Paid Agreements 

 19 AA 4351–4359 

01/10/2018 APCO’s Reply in Support of Motion for 
Reconsideration of Court’s Order Granting 
Peel Brimley Lien Claimants’ Partial 
Motion for Summary Judgment to Preclude 
Defenses Based on Pay-If-Paid Provisions 
on an Order Shortening Time 

 19 AA 4360–4372 

01/10/2018 Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc. 
Opposition to APCO Construction, Inc.’s 
Motion for Reconsideration of Court’s 
Order Granting Zitting Brothers 
Construction’s Partial Motion for Summary 
Judgment 

 19 AA 4373–4445 

01/11/2018 Recorder’s Transcript of Hearing RE: All 
Pending Motions 

 19 AA 4446–4466 
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Date DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION Vol. Bates Nos. 

01/19/2018 Order Denying APCO Construction’s 
Motion for Reconsideration of Court’s 
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RPLY 
SPENCER FANE LLP 
John H. Mowbray, Esq. (Bar No. 1140) 
John Randall Jefferies, Esq. (Bar No. 3512) 
Mary E. Bacon, Esq. (Bar No. 12686) 
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 700 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Telephone: (702) 408-3411 
Facsimile:  (702) 408-3401 
E-mail: JMowbray@spencerfane.com 

RJefferies@spencerfane.com 
  MBacon@spencerfane.com 
 
  -and-  
 
MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING  
Jack Juan Chen, Esq. 
Cody S. Mounteer, Esq. (Bar No. 11220) 
10001 Park Run Drive 
Las Vegas, NV 89145 
Telephone: 702.207.6089 
Email: cmounteer@maclaw.com  
 
Attorneys for APCO Construction, Inc. 
 
DISTRICT COURT 
 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
APCO CONSTRUCTION, a Nevada 

corporation,  

Plaintiff, 

v. 

GEMSTONE DEVELOPMENT WEST, INC., A 

Nevada corporation,  

 

Defendant. 

 

 Case No.:   A571228 
  
Dept. No.:     XIII 
 
Consolidated with: 
A574391; A574792; A577623; A583289; 
A587168; A580889; A584730; A589195; 
A595552; A597089; A592826; A589677; 
A596924; A584960; A608717; A608718; and 
A590319 

 
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION OF COURT'S 
ORDER GRANTING PEEL BRIMLEY 
LIEN CLAIMANTS’ PARTIAL MOTION 
FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO 
PRECLUDE DEFENSES BASED ON PAY-
IF-PAID PROVISIONS ON AN ORDER 
SHORTENING TIME 
 

AND ALL RELATED MATTERS   

 

APCO Construction, Inc. (“APCO”), by and through its undersigned counsel of record, the 

law firms of SPENCER FANE LLP and MARQUIS AURBACH COFFING, submits the 

Case Number: 08A571228

Electronically Filed
1/10/2018 2:20 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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following Reply in Support of its Motion for Reconsideration of the Court’s Order Granting the 

Peel Brimley Lien Claimants Partial Motion for Summary Judgment to Preclude Defenses based 

on Pay-if-Paid Provisions.  This Reply addresses National Wood’s and Peel Brimley’s 

Oppositions.  

APCO’s Motion should be granted because National Wood’s Opposition exclusively relies 

on its misplaced argument that this Court and the Nevada Supreme Court did not decide Padilla 

Construction Co. of Nevada v. Big-D Construction Corp.
1
 (“Padilla v. Big-D”) based upon the 

payment schedule (and corresponding lack of payment from the owner to the general contractor 

for the subcontractor’s work). Instead, National Wood claims that this Court and the Nevada 

Supreme Court decided the case solely on a different condition precedent: whether Padilla’s work 

was accepted by the owner. This reading is contrary to the plain language of both this Court’s 

order in Padilla v. Big-D and the Nevada Supreme Court’s decision. The Nevada Supreme Court 

decided Padilla v. Big-D for two separate and independent reasons: (1) Padilla’s work was not 

accepted by the owner; and (2) because Big-D was never paid for Padilla’s work by the owner. 

APCO’s Motion should be granted because the Nevada Supreme Court has found that pay-

if-paid provisions are valid conditions precedent to a general contractor’s obligation to pay a 

subcontractor without a mechanic’s lien waiver.  There have been no waiver of lien rights in this 

instance, and all parties agreed to valid preconditions to payment.  

DATED: January 10, 2018.        SPENCER FANE LLP 
 
 
 By:   /s/ Mary Bacon____________ 

John H. Mowbray, Esq. (Bar No. 1140) 
John Randall Jefferies, Esq. (Bar No. 3512) 
Mary E. Bacon, Esq. (Bar No. 12686) 
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 700 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Telephone: (702) 408-3400 
Facsimile:   (702) 408-3401 

       Attorneys for Apco Construction, Inc. 
 

 

                                            

1
 286 P.3d 982 (2016) 
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I. National Wood’s Opposition
2
 

A. Padilla v. Big-D is exactly on point. 

The Court’s analysis in Padilla v. Big-D applies to the facts of this case.  While National 

Wood’s Opposition presents a two-step analysis that it believes the Nevada Supreme Court 

followed in its decision in Padilla v. Big-D, its position is wholly unsupported.  See Opposition at 

2 (“First, the subcontractor had to show that it actually properly performed its work under the 

subcontract. Second, if it passed the first hurdle, the subcontractor had to show that the pay-if-paid 

provision was invalid.”).  National Wood’s reading of this Court’s and the Nevada Supreme 

Court’s alleged two-step analysis contains no citations to the decisions and ignores both this 

Court’s and the Nevada Supreme Court’s specific findings regarding when Big-D, the general 

contractor, had to pay Padilla, the subcontractor.  Accordingly, this Court should consider Padilla 

v. Big-D as persuasive authority pursuant to Nev. R. App. P. 36(3) and apply its reasoning to this 

case.
3
 

B. This Court found Big-D’s payment to Padilla was never triggered because two 

conditions precedent to payment were not met.  

 After trial in the Padilla v. Big-D matter, this Court found that: (1) NRS 624.624 was 

designed to ensure that general contractors pay subcontractors after the owner pays the general;
4
 

(2) NRS 624.624 yields to a schedule of payments;
5
 (3) the subcontract confirmed that Padilla 

                                            

2
 While APCO is separating its Reply by headings addressing National Wood’s and Peel 

Brimley’s Oppositions, all of its arguments in both sections are meant to address both 

Oppositions.  
3
 See Nev. R. App. P. 36(3) (“A party may cite for its persuasive value, if any, an unpublished 

disposition issued by this court on or after January 1, 2016.”).   
4
 Exhibit 11 to Motion for Reconsideration, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and 

Judgment at 21:14-16 (emphasis added) (“NRS 624.624 is designed to ensure that general 

subcontractors promptly pay subcontractor after the general contractor receives payment from the 

Owner associated with work performed by the subcontract.”).  
5
  Id. at 21: 17-19 (“By its own terms, NRS 624.624 yields to (a) payment schedules contained in 

subcontract agreements and (b) contractual rights to withhold payments from a subcontractor after 

arising from deficient work.”); id. at 22:6-9 (“Here, it is undisputed that the Subcontract 

Agreement is a written agreement between Big-D and Padilla. Accordingly, pursuant to NRS 

624.624(1)(a) payment is due to Padilla on the date specified in the Subcontract Agreement.”). 
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would get paid after the owner accepted and paid the prime contractor for the work;
6
 and (4) the 

owner never accepted the work so Big-D’s payment to Padilla never became due.
7
 This Court did 

not proclaim any two-step analysis or refuse to decide when payment would be due under the 

schedule of payments, as National Wood would have this Court believe. Instead, it decided the 

issue of when Big-D’s payment to Padilla would come due head on: it ruled on NRS 624.624 

regarding when payments to subcontractors are due, it acknowledged the subcontract contained a 

schedule of payments, confirmed when payment was due under that schedule of payments, and 

determined that payment never became due because the owner never paid Big-D for Padilla’s 

work.
8
 If this Court wanted to punt the issue, those findings of fact and conclusions of law would 

have been unnecessary. 

C. The Nevada Supreme Court held that Big-D’s payment to Padilla was never 

triggered because two conditions precedent to payment were not met.  

Next, unlike National Wood’s representation that the Nevada Supreme Court did not 

address the second “hurdle,”
9
 the pay-if-paid provision, it is clear that the Nevada Supreme 

Court’s decision accounted for the same two separate conditions precedent which were not met 

(the owner never accepted the subcontractor’s work, and the owner never paid the general for the 

subcontractor’s work) in determining that Big-D’s payment obligation never became due:  

Because    the    parties’    subcontract contained a payment 
schedule that required that Padilla be  paid  within  ten  days  after  
IGT  accepted  Padilla's work and paid Big-D for that work and it 
is undisputed that IGT never accepted Padilla's work and never 
paid Big-D for Padilla’s work, the district court correctly found 
that payment never became due to Padilla under the  subcontract  
or   NRS  624.624(1)(a).

10
  

 
 National Wood’s position is even more tenuous given the Nevada Supreme Court’s 

proclivity to explicitly state when it is resting its decision on one dispositive issue, and not 

                                            

6
 Id. at 22:9-11 (“The Subcontract provided that Padilla was to be paid within ten (10) days after 

IGT paid Big-D and after IGT accepted the Padilla work.”).  
7
 See Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment. at 23:2-3 (“Here, it is undisputed 

that IGT never accepted the Padilla work. Accordingly, payment to Padilla never became due.”).  
8
 See id. 

9
 National Wood’s Opposition at 3:17-24. 

10
 386 P.3d 982, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS  958 (emphasis added).  
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deciding other issues.  

D. Lehrer is not dispositive.  

National Wood also misunderstands APCO’s position of Lehrer McGovern Bovis, Inc. v. 

Bullock Insulation, Inc.
11

 As APCO explained in its Motion, when considering the pay-if-paid 

provision in conjunction with the preemptive waiver of mechanic’s lien rights, the Lehrer court 

stated in dicta that pay-if-paid provisions are against public policy when they impair a 

subcontractor’s right to place a mechanic’s lien on the property and have the same practical effect 

of waiving a right to a mechanic’s lien.
12

 The rationale in Lehrer is inapplicable in this case 

because the subcontracts at issue did not contain a waiver or impairment of the Subcontractors’ 

mechanic’s lien rights. The Subcontractors maintained such rights and liened the property to get 

paid for their labor and materials.
13

 So even if pay-if-paid language was stricken in Lehrer, the 

rationale (of impairing mechanic’s lien rights) remains. That logic and rationale should not be 

applicable in this instance since the pay-if-paid language does not impair mechanic’s lien rights. 

Further, National Wood tries to distinguish Lehrer from the instant case by pointing out the 

Lehrer court struck down the mechanic’s lien waiver, and arguing there was no “effective waiver 

of a mechanic’s lien.” National Wood’s argument is unpersuasive. First, this argument fails to 

account for APCO’s position that the rationale of Lehrer should not control this case (as explained 

above). Second, it ignores the fact that when the Court analyzes a waiver of a mechanic’s lien in 

conjunction with pay-if-paid language, the subcontractor has no remedy. It cannot lien the 

property, and it cannot pursue the general contractor. However, when the subcontract only 

contains pay-if-paid language, the subcontractor has a remedy: it can lien the property.  And as the 

Nevada Supreme Court pointed out in Padilla v. Big-D, when the subcontract only contains pay-

if-paid language within a schedule of payments, the pay-if-paid language is a valid condition 

                                            

11
 124 Nev. 1102 (2008). 

12
 Lehrer McGovern Bovis v. Bullock Insulation, 197 P.3d 1032, 124 Nev. 1102 (Nev. 2008) 

(internal citations omitted).  
13

 See Exhibits 4-6.  

AA 004364
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precedent to payment.  

II. Peel Brimley’s Opposition  

Peel Brimley is correct in that NRS 624 requires prompt payment to subcontractors. 

However, as this Court has previously ruled, NRS 624.624 was designed to ensure that general 

contractors pay subcontractors after the owner pays the general contractor for the subcontractor’s 

work.
14

 Since it is undisputed that the owner never paid APCO for the Subcontractors’ work, 

APCO’s payment obligation under the respective Subcontracts or NRS 624 was not triggered.
15

   

Helix conflates the Lehrer decision beyond its holding in an attempt to merge contract and 

lien rights into one body of law.  Specifically, Helix argues that the policy discussed in Bullock is 

not advanced by precluding pay-if-paid agreements only when there is security of lien.  Converse 

to Helix’s assertion, there is a valid justification for making the distinction, because if the 

distinction is not made, and by following Helix’s rational, every general contractor in the State of 

Nevada has now become a personal guarantor of payment under NRS 108 when a project fails, the 

property is sold, priority to the proceeds are determined, and  there are remaining 

contractors/subcontractors who have purported outstanding balances owed to them. Of the utmost 

importance, nowhere does NRS 108 state the security afford there under obligates a general 

contractor in any form or fashion to be liable or guarantee such NRS 108 securities.  

Helix cites to J.E. Dunn Northwest, Inc. v. Corus Const. Venture, LLC,
16

  for the 

proposition that the Supreme Court of Nevada has already found that the “loss of security does not 

mean the loss of lien rights afforded a lien claimant pursuant to NRS 108.”
17

 Helix’s reliance on 

J.E. Dunn is misplaced, as J.E. Dunn specifically addresses lien priorities between various lien 

claimants, which has already been done by the Supreme Court in the instant case.  What is not 

                                            

14
 Exhibit 11 to Motion for Reconsideration, Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and 

Judgment at 21:14-16 (emphasis added). (“NRS 624.624 is designed to ensure that general 

subcontractors promptly pay subcontractor after the general contractor receives payment from the 

Owner associated with work performed by the subcontract.”).  
15

 See Padilla, 386 P.3d 982, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS  958. 
16 127 Nev. 72, 81, 249 P.3d 501, 507 (2011) 
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found anywhere in J.E. Dunn, or any other case cited by Helix, is how a general contractor is still 

liable to a subcontractor pursuant to NRS 108 once the priority and lien rights have been 

determined.  Thus, these two bodies of law must be kept distinctly separate, and is why a case-by-

case analysis of the factors enunciated in NRS 624.628 must be analyzed by the Court.   

 And while Lehrer concluded that the pay-if-paid provision in that subcontract was 

unenforceable, it did so for reasons that are not applicable here because in this case, the 

Subcontractors did not waive their lien rights.  In Lehrer, the combination of a waiver of a 

subcontractor’s mechanic’s lien rights and the pay-if-paid language left the subcontractor without 

a remedy against either the owner’s property and the general. As such, Padilla v. Big-D is far more 

similar in that it contained pay-if-paid language, and no waiver of lien rights. So the 

Subcontractors had a remedy in both Padilla v. Big-D and the instant case: they could lien the 

property.  

 Peel Brimley argues that “the Supreme Court did not consider the applicability of Bullock 

[Lehrer] and its prohibition on pay-if-paid, presumably because neither party raised the issue.”
18

 

Peel Brimley is incorrect.  APCO’s Motion chronicled the parties’ detailed briefing on pay-if-paid 

provisions, and even Lehrer specifically.
19

  

 Next, Peel Brimley contends that the Padilla v. Big-D decision “hinged on the fact that 

Padilla materially breached the subcontract.”
20

 This Court does not need to consider Peel 

Brimley’s speculation on the basis of the Court’s decision because the Court explained the basis 

for its decision:  

Because    the    parties’    subcontract contained a payment 
schedule that required that Padilla be  paid  within  ten  days  after  
IGT  accepted  Padilla's work and paid Big-D for that work and it 
is undisputed that IGT never accepted Padilla's work and never 
paid Big-D for Padilla’s work, the district court correctly found 

                                                                                                                                               

17 Opposition at 3:21–22 
18

 See Opposition at 5:1-2. 
19

 See Motion for Reconsideration at 12:10-13:22. 
20

 See Opposition at 5:7-8. 
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that payment never became due to Padilla under the  subcontract  
or   NRS  624.624(1)(a). 

21
  

 
 Lastly, Peel Brimely contends that the Court should consider Cashman Equipment 

Company v. West Edna Associates, Ltd.
22

  Cashman is inapposite and consideration of Cashman 

would not change the Court’s analysis. As APCO presented in its Motion, there are essentially 

three categories of provisions that are important to keep in mind: (1) a waiver of a mechanic’s lien 

rights; (2) a waiver of a mechanic’s lien rights in conjunction with a pay-if-paid provision; and (3) 

a pay-if-paid provision which does not impair a subcontractor’s mechanic’s lien rights. The 

Nevada Supreme Court addressed the first two categories in the Lehrer case.
23

 The Nevada 

Supreme Court did not address pay-if-paid provisions in subcontracts that did not waive, impair, 

or have the practical effect of waiving or impairing a subcontractor’s right to place a mechanic’s 

lien on the property in Lehrer.  Instead, it addressed them in Padilla v. Big-D, and found the pay-

if-paid language to be a valid condition precedent to payment.
24

 

 The instant case is a category 3 case: a pay-if-paid provision which does not impair a 

subcontractor’s mechanic’s lien rights. Cashman is inapposite since it is a category 1 case which 

only involved a mechanic’s lien waiver.  Further, its mere mention of pay-if-paid provisions being 

unenforceable as against public policy is unpersuasive because as set forth above, that case and its 

rationale did not account for the situation in the instant case: pay-if-paid language without a 

waiver of a mechanic’s lien. Only the Padilla v. Big-D Court has decided a category 3 case.  

 

                                            

21
 386 P.3d 982, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS  958 (emphasis added).  Further, this Court will hear 

arguments at trial regarding how the Subcontractors did not meet its other conditions precedent to 

payment pursuant to sections 3 and 4 of their respective Subcontracts. Thus, to Helix’s argument, 

this Court’s ultimate decision could be that the Subcontractors did not meet two (or more) of the 

conditions precedent to payment, like the Court ruled in Padilla.  
22 380 P.3d 844 (2016), 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 26 (2016). 
23

 Lehrer, 197 P.3d at 1040-44. 
24 

24
 386 P.3d 982, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS  958 
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III. Conclusion 

This Court and the Nevada Supreme Court analyzed pay-if-paid language without a waiver 

of a mechanic’s lien in Padilla v. Big-D and enforced a similar condition precedent to payment 

requiring the owner’s payment to the general contractor before the general contractor is required to 

pay a subcontractor. The Court’s reasoning should be the same in this case; any other decision 

would be inconsistent.  In light of the foregoing, APCO respectfully requests that this Court grant 

the instant Motion for Reconsideration.    

DATED:  January 10, 2018. 

        SPENCER FANE LLP 
 
 
 By:   /s/ Mary Bacon ____________ 

John H. Mowbray, Esq. (Bar No. 1140) 
John Randall Jefferies, Esq. (Bar No. 3512) 
Mary E. Bacon, Esq. (Bar No. 12686) 
300 S. Fourth Street, Suite 700 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Telephone: (702) 408-3400 
Facsimile:   (702) 408-3401 

       Attorneys for APCO Construction, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that I am an employee of SPENCER FANE LLP and that a copy of the 

foregoing REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF COURT'S 

ORDER GRANTING PEEL BRIMLEY LIEN CLAIMANTS' PARTIAL MOTION FOR 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT TO PRECLUDE DEFENSES BASED ON PAY IF PAID 

PROVISIONS ON AN ORDER SHORTENING TIME was served by electronic transmission 

through the E-Filing system pursuant to NEFCR 9, NRCP 5(b) and EDCR 7.26 or by mailing a 

copy to their last known address, first class mail, postage prepaid for non-registered users, on this 

10th day of January, 2018, as follows: 
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/s/ Adam Miller    
An employee of Spencer Fane LLP 
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CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

APCO CONSTRUCTION, a Nevada 
corporation, 
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vs.  
 
GEMSTONE DEVELOPMENT WEST, INC., a 
Nevada corporation, 
 
   Defendant. 
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A590319 
 
Date of Hearing: January 11, 2018 
Time of Hearing: 9:00 a.m. 

 
AND ALL RELATED MATTERS 
 

 

ZITTING BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, INC.’S OPPOSITION TO APCO 

CONSTRUCTION, INC.’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF COURT’S ORDER 

GRANTING ZITTING BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc. (“Zitting”), a lien claimant, respectfully opposes APCO 

Construction, Inc.’s motion to reconsider this Court’s order granting Zitting’s motion for summary 

judgment in its entirety. APCO Construction, Inc. (“APCO”) fails to introduce any law or evidence 

that was new or could not have been introduced and argued in the prior briefing on Zitting’s motion. 

APCO also fails to show that this Court’s decision was clearly erroneous. Zitting explains this 

further in the accompanying Memorandum of Points and Authorities, which is supported by the 

Case Number: 08A571228
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record of this Court and any oral argument that this Court may entertain at the hearing on APCO’s 

motion. 

Dated: January 10, 2018 

 

 

 
 
 

WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & 
DICKER LLP 
 
 
/s/I-Che Lai  
Jorge Ramirez, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 6787 
I-Che Lai, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 12247 
300 South 4

th
 Street, 11

th
 Floor 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Telephone: (702) 727-1400 
Facsimile: (702) 727-1401 
Attorneys for Lien Claimant, 
Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc. 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Wanting yet another “bite at the apple,” APCO seeks reconsideration of this Court’s order 

granting Zitting’s motion for summary judgment. This reconsideration manifests in a 39-page 

motion, filed 5:17 p.m. on January 8, 2018—giving Zitting little time to oppose and leaving this 

Court almost no time to review the opposition. Critically, APCO devotes its entire motion re-arguing 

issues that it raised or could have raised in the prior briefing on Zitting’s motion. There is no new 

evidence for this Court to consider APCO has failed to show that this Court clearly erred in granting 

Zitting’s motion. 

Zitting has concerns that this motion is nothing more than an attempt to wear this Court down 

by attrition and to force a reversal out of the court’s frustration. This is not the purpose of a motion 

for reconsideration. It is why motions for reconsideration are disfavored and routinely denied. While 

APCO claims that it is seeking reconsideration to later avoid appealing this decision, it is apparent 

from APCO’s demeanor throughout this case that it intends to file an appeal of any monetary 

decision awarded to either Zitting or any other lien claimant.  Thus, APCO’s motion for 

reconsideration should be denied as the end result is going to be litigation before Nevada’s appellate 

court.   Denying APCO’s motion will avoid this Court and Zitting from having to expend any more 

time and resources. 

II. ARGUMENT 

A. This Court should not reconsider its order granting Zitting’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment because it re-argues various issues in a futile attempt to vacate a proper 

order. 

APCO fails to raise any grounds to support its motion for reconsideration of the order 

granting Zitting’s motion for summary judgment—opting instead to reargue points raised in the 

parties’ briefing on Zitting’s motion. Although courts have discretion to reconsider and “mend, 

correct, resettle, modify, or vacate” their prior orders, Trail v. Faretto, 91 Nev. 401, 403, 536 P.2d 

1026, 1027 (1975), 
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[m]otions for reconsideration are disfavored … and are not the place 
for parties to make new arguments not raised in their original briefs. 
… Nor is reconsideration to be used to ask the Court to rethink what it 
has already thought. 
 

Motorola, Inc. v. J.B. Rodgers Mech. Contractors, 215 F.R.D. 581, 582 (D. Ariz. 2003) (citations 

omitted). A party may not present evidence for the first time in a motion for reconsideration when 

the evidence was previously available.  Trentacosta v. Frontier Pac. Aircraft Indus., Inc, 813 F.2d 

1553, 1557 (9th Cir. 1987). A party’s failure to make arguments in prior proceedings constitutes a 

waiver of such arguments.  Chowdry v. NLVH, Inc., 111 Nev. 560, 563, 893 P.2d 385, 387 (1995). 

As APCO admits, reconsideration of a motion is “appropriate only when ‘substantially 

different evidence is subsequently introduced or the decision is clearly erroneous.” (Mot. for 

Reconsideration
1
 10:8-9 (citing Masonry & Tile Contractors Ass’n of S. Nev. v. Jolley, Urga & 

Wirth, Ltd., 113 Nev. 737, 741, 941 P.2d 486, 489 (1997)).)  “‘A finding is clearly erroneous when 

although there is evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the 

definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed.’” Unionamerica Mortgage & Equity 

Trust v. McDonald, 97 Nev. 210, 211-212, 626 P.2d 1272, 1273 (1981) (citation omitted). Here, 

APCO has failed to introduce any new evidence that would warrant reconsideration, as shown by its 

reliance on the same evidence it submitted to support its original and supplemental oppositions to 

Zitting’s motion for summary judgment.  

For example, APCO cites to Zitting’s Rule 30(b)(6) deposition testimony as new evidence. 

(Mot. for Reconsideration 11:25-14:8.) But APCO admits that it had addressed this testimony in its 

supplemental opposition to Zitting’s motion briefing, which this Court considered. (Id. 9:3-4 

(admitting that it addressed Zitting’s deposition testimony in supplemental briefing).) APCO 

therefore cannot dispute that it previously asserted—or could have asserted—each of the arguments 

in its motion for reconsideration. (See id. 11:1-16:23 (re-arguing points from APCO’s original and 

supplemental opposition to Zitting’s motion for summary judgment).) As discussed below, APCO’s 

arguments in its motion for reconsideration are wholly without merit and fail to leave a definite and 

                                                 
1
 Zitting cites APCO’s motion for reconsideration as “Mot. for Reconsideration.” 
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firm conviction that this Court had made a mistake.
2
 Accordingly, this Court should deny APCO’s 

motion for reconsideration.  

1. This Court’s November 27, 2017 decision regarding Zitting’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment was clear that it granted the motion in its entirety and 

was therefore mistake-free. 

As an initial matter, APCO suggests that this Court mistakenly entered its December 29, 

2017 Order granting Zitting’s motion for summary judgment because that order contradicted this 

Court’s November 27, 2017 Decision (“Decision”) on Zitting’s motion. (Id. 9:12-10:1.) Specifically, 

APCO claims that this Court found genuine issues of material fact as to the breach of contract and 

Nev. Rev. Stat. 108 claims, which would preclude summary judgment. (See id.) However, the plain 

language of the November 27, 2017 Decision shows that there is no such contradiction. 

The Decision found that the resolution of the “‘pay-if-paid’ aspect of Zitting’s [m]otion [for 

summary judgment]” does not resolve Zitting’s breach of contract claim. (Decision 2:2-7 (Nov. 27, 

2017).) This made sense. The resolution of the “pay-if-paid” aspect did not establish a breach of 

contract. See Richardson v. Jones, 1 Nev. 405, 408 (1865) (requiring the existence of a valid 

contract, a breach by the defendant, and damage as a result of the breach for a breach of contract). 

This was why this Court also found that it “still ha[d] before it the question of whether there are 

genuine issues going to breach of contract related to Zitting’s performance of the same.” (Decision 

2:2-7 (Nov. 27, 2017).) 

To resolve that question, this Court found that “what APCO has provided is ‘too little too 

late’” and that it was “simply unfair to require Zitting to address supposed issues that have been 

drawn out at the last minute.” (Id. 2:7-13.) This adopted Zitting’s argument that Nev. R. Civ. P. 37 

precludes APCO from using any evidence other than the evidence regarding the enforceability of the 

“pay-if-paid” provision to oppose Zitting’s motion. (See id. 2:14-17.) Moreover, it was evident from 

the Decision and the pleadings filed with the Court that APCO did not present admissible evidence 

                                                 
2
 In light of APCO’s re-litigation of previously decided issues, Zitting incorporates all of its argument discussed in its 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against APCO Construction, Reply in Support of Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment Against APCO Construction, Response to APCO Construction’s Supplemental Opposition to Zitting Brothers 

Construction, Inc.’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and Joinder to Peel Brimley Lien Claimants’ Motion for 

Partial Summary Judgment Precluding Defenses Based on Pay-if-Paid Agreements. 
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to create a genuine issue of material fact to challenge all of the evidence presented by Zitting in 

summary judgment.  The only “evidence” and arguments APCO presented were those conjured up at 

the eleventh hour after it had mislead Zitting.  By concluding that the “pay-if-paid” provision was 

void and unenforceable, and that APCO had no evidence to oppose the other aspect of Zitting’s 

motion, summary judgment completely in Zitting’s favor was warranted. (See id. 2:12-13.) This 

Court should therefore not reconsider its December 29, 2017 Order on this basis. 

2. Preclusion of all of APCO’s evidence other than evidence regarding the 

enforceability of the “pay-if-paid” provision was warranted and did not 

constitute a case-ending sanction. 

APCO fails to definitively prove that the primary basis for this Court’s granting of Zitting’s 

motion—Nev. R. Civ. P. 37’s preclusion of evidence other than enforceability of pay if paid 

provision—was a mistake. Nev. R. Civ. P. 37(c)(1) prohibits a “party that without substantial 

justification fails to … amend a prior response to discovery as required by Rule 26(e)(2) … [from] 

us[ing] as evidence at a trial, at a hearing, or on a motion any … information not so disclosed” 

unless “such failure is harmless.” For example, “failure to supplement interrogatory responses under 

Rule 26(e)(2) may … result in the exclusion of all evidence related to the non-supplemented 

subject.” Heidelberg Harris, Inc. v. Mitsubishi Heavy Indus., Ltd., No. 95 C 0673, 1996 WL 680243, 

at *8 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 21, 1996) (citing Holiday Inn, Inc. v. Robertshaw Controls Co., 560 F.2d 856, 

858 (7th Cir. 1977)). “Rule 37(c)(1)’s preclusionary sanction is ‘automatic….’” Am. Stock Exch., 

LLC v. Mopex, Inc., 215 F.R.D. 87, 93 (S.D.N.Y. 2002). The party facing preclusion bears the 

burden to prove that its failure to disclose was substantially justified and did not prejudice the party 

seeking sanctions. E.g., Torres v. City of Los Angeles, 548 F.3d 1197, 1213 (9th Cir. 2008). Here, 

APCO—again—fails to meet this burden. 

a. APCO does not dispute that it had no justification for not timely 

disclosing all grounds for refusing payment to Zitting in its 

interrogatory responses. 

In its motion for reconsideration, APCO does not dispute—and therefore concedes—that it 

had no justification for failing to disclose in its 2010 and 2017 original interrogatory responses 

AA 004378



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

-7- 
1247333v.2 

grounds for refusing payment to Zitting other than one based on the enforceability of the “pay-if-

paid” provision. (See Mot. for Reconsideration 6:25-35:9.) There was also no justification for APCO 

to not seasonably amending its interrogatory responses to include additional grounds for refusing 

payment. (See id.) Nor can APCO show this. 

APCO has never denied that it could disclose all grounds for its defenses in 2010. (See id.) 

APCO admits that it had independent knowledge to assert those defenses since the outset of this 

case, including defenses based on 

 whether Zitting submitted any application for payment of the amount owed; 

 whether APCO received close-out documents from Zitting—a purported condition 

precedent to payment under the contract; and 

 whether APCO provided executed change orders to Zitting—another purported condition 

precedent to payment under the contract. 

(See id. 15:1-16:21, 18:1-20:24.) Nonetheless, Zitting has expressly given both of APCO’s Rule 

30(b)(6) witnesses an opportunity during their deposition to amend APCO’s interrogatory responses. 

(Ex. A 14:8-24; Ex. B 109:11-111:50.) They did not amend the responses. (See id.) This is 

unsurprising given the testimony from APCO’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness on APCO’s affirmative 

defenses that APCO was still relying solely on the “pay-if-paid” provision to excuse payment. 

(MSJ,
3
 Ex. B 40:16-41:4.) 

b. APCO fails to show that this Court’s finding of prejudice was clearly 

erroneous. 

APCO also fails to show that this Court’s finding of prejudice to Zitting was wrong. In a 

misguided attempt to show a lack of prejudice to Zitting, APCO argues that discovery “really only 

started in September 2016.” (Mot. for Reconsideration 7:11-15.) This argument ignores the parties’ 

prior disclosure of thousands of pages of documents and prior discovery. (See, e.g., Ex. C; MSJ, Ex. 

T.) Discovery has only “seemed” like it started for APCO because Zitting had relied on APCO’s sole 

defense under the “pay-if-paid” provision and refrained from conducting other discovery. 

                                                 
3
 Zitting cites its motion for summary judgment as “MSJ”) and its reply in support of that motion as “MSJ Reply.” 
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Had APCO disclosed all grounds for refusing payment in its 2010 interrogatory responses, 

Zitting would have approached discovery much differently in 2010—when witnesses are all 

available and their recollection of the relevant facts is fresh. For example, it would have 

 served written discovery requests to the drywaller; 

 deposed specific APCO employees on Zitting’s work; 

 deposed the owner on its approval of Zitting’s work; 

 deposed CAMCO and the drywaller on the status of Buildings 8 and 9’s drywall; and 

 retained an expert to assess the value of Zitting’s completed work. 

“With the passage of time, those facts become harder to prove [for Zitting] as memories fade and 

witnesses become unavailable.” See N.L.R.B. v. Serv-All Co., Inc., 491 F.2d 1273, 1275 (10th Cir. 

1974).   

 Also, as APCO’s motion for reconsideration accurately points out, discovery resumed in 

2016 after the appellate issues were resolved.
4
   It is abundantly clear that APCO had over a year 

before the close of discovery to supplement its discovery responses to add the affirmative defenses 

that it has now tried to do on the eve of trial, and only after Zitting and the other lien claimants had 

already filed their respective summary judgment motions.  Instead, APCO chose to rely on its one 

affirmative defense throughout the remainder of discovery all to the detriment of Zitting. 

Again, Zitting had relied on APCO’s original interrogatory responses to pursue a litigation 

plan to pursue limited discovery and file a motion for summary judgment that focused on the 

enforceability of the “pay-if-paid” provision. To that end, Zitting 

 limited its review of the voluminous documents disclosed in this case; 

 limited depositions and written discovery; 

 truncated APCO’s Rule 30(b)(6) depositions by not pursing all questions beyond 

APCO’s limited defense; 

 prepared its Rule 30(b)(6) witness for his deposition based on limited information. 

                                                 
4
 APCO attempts to curry sympathy from this Court by stating in its pending motion that it took on the lions share of the 

appellate work to try and get its lien to take priority over the bank.  As this Court is aware, however, APCO did not do 

this out of any benevolence for its subcontractors who are the lien claimants in this litigation.  It undertook the primary 

role in the appeal because of its interest in trying to offset the amounts due to its subcontracts, which are owed under 

Nevada law (NRS 624, et seq.) by APCO irrespective of whether any money is garnered from the sale of the property. 
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Based on nearly identical facts, a federal court in Inamed Corp. v. Kuzmak, 275 F. Supp. 2d 1100 

(C.D. Cal. 2002), aff’d, 64 Fed. Appx. 241 (Fed. Cir. 2003) has precluded defenses not properly 

disclosed during discovery. Although Zitting discusses this federal case in its briefing on its motion 

for summary judgment, (MSJ Reply 7:22-8:24), APCO completely overlooks the case. (See Mot. for 

Reconsideration 6:25-35:9.) This case further confirms the soundness of this Court’s finding of 

prejudice.  

c. APCO’s vague affirmative defenses did not apprise Zitting of APCO’s 

grounds for refusing payment. 

APCO—again—cites the affirmative defenses alleged in its answer to show the absence of 

prejudice to Zitting. (Mot. for Reconsideration 16:24-17:26.) However, this does not show that 

preclusion of evidence related to these defenses was clearly erroneous. 

APCO has alleged 20 affirmative defenses in its June 10, 2009 answer, including: 

 Tenth Affirmative Defense: APCO’s obligation to Zitting have been satisfied or excused. 

 Twelfth Affirmative Defense: The claim for breach of contract is barred as a result of 

Zitting’s failure to satisfy conditions precedent. 

(Id. 7:1-3, Ex. 2 7:1-9:13.) The affirmative defense cited by APCO can be read to reflect only the 

“pay-if-paid” condition precedent. (See id. 17:7-25.) However, these affirmative defenses are vague 

and do not identify any factual basis. (See id.) 

As discussed in Zitting’s prior briefing, uncertain of APCO’s factual basis for the affirmative 

defenses, Zitting first served interrogatories in 2010 to obtain more details about those defenses and 

to see if the parties can narrow the issues for trial. For example, the interrogatories asked APCO to 

explain its refusal to pay Zitting (interrogatory nos. 1, 6, and 40) and APCO’s bases for affirmative 

defenses nos. 10 and 12 (interrogatory nos. 10 and 17). (MSJ, Ex. T 5:4-7:9, 10:14-11:5, 14:7-15:4, 

21:1-22:2, 43:5-45:2.) APCO only disclosed its reliance on the “pay-if-paid” condition precedent. 

(Id.) On June 5, 2017, APCO’s Rule 30(b)(6) designee for APCO’s affirmative defenses 

subsequently confirmed through deposition testimony that this was the sole ground for refusing 

payment to Zitting.  (MSJ, Ex. B at 10:24-12:20, 40:16-41:4, Ex. 1.) Assuming arguendo that the 
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vague affirmative defenses asserted in 2009 provided notice of APCO’s affirmative defenses, 

APCO’s subsequent discovery responses had eliminated that notice. 

Moreover, assuming this Court was to entertain APCO’s condition precedent argument, 

APCO still loses.  The condition precedent that APCO asserts are two fold.  First, APCO claims that 

the drywall needs to be up for Zitting to get paid its retention under its contract.  It is undisputed that 

the units are complete so this condition precedent has been met.  The contract does not say that the 

drywall has to be up during the time that APCO is on the project.  The contract provision just says 

that the drywall has to be completed.  Second, APCO claims that the change order has to be 

approved by the contractor and owner.  However, as this Court ruled, by operation of law the change 

order was accepted and approved when APCO failed to challenge the change order within 30 days of 

its submission.  APCO’s failure to acknowledge that its contract cannot contravene Nevada law is 

what has lead it to continue this protracted litigation.   However, as established herein, this Court 

was well aware when it issued its Decision and Order that the conditions precedent APCO is 

clamoring about in its motion for reconsideration were met.  Therefore, Zitting was owed its 

retention amount plus its change orders, which is why this Court granted Zitting summary judgment.   

d. Deposition testimony from APCO’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness on 

accounting cannot undo the prejudice to Zitting. 

APCO again argues that its July 19, 2017 Rule 30(b)(6) deposition testimony on accounting 

provided Zitting notice of grounds for APCO’s defenses. (Mot. for Reconsideration 18:1-20:24.) 

However, this is wholly without merit. 

Notably, APCO completely disregards the prejudicial effect of its June 5, 2017 Rule 30(b)(6) 

deposition testimony on APCO’s affirmative defenses and construction-related topics. (Ex. A 10:24-

12:20, Ex. 1.) The witness at that deposition has testified that APCO was solely relying on the “pay-

if-paid” provision to avoid paying Zitting the amount owed. (MSJ, Ex. B 40:16-41:4.) APCO’s 

subsequent Rule 30(b)(6) deposition on other topics cannot contradict this. When Zitting’s counsel 

asked both witnesses about any changes they want to make to APCO’s interrogatory responses, both 

witness did not make any changes. (Ex. A 14:21-24, Ex. B 109:16-111:15.) 
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Nevertheless, those depositions occurred 7 years after APCO’s initial interrogatory response, 

near the end of discovery, and only a few months before trial. By the time of the depositions, 

Zitting—in reliance on APCO’s conduct over the course of 7 years—had already lost opportunities 

to conduct the discovery needed to respond to APCO 11th-hour defenses. As this Court noted, this is 

“too little[,] too late.” (Decision 2:8-10 (Nov. 27, 2017).) 

e. APCO’s late supplemental interrogatory responses cannot undo the 

prejudice to Zitting. 

Likewise, APCO’s 11th-hour supplement to its interrogatory responses cannot undo the 

prejudice to Zitting. APCO served this supplement to its interrogatory responses on November 7, 

2017—after the close of discovery, after Zitting’s motion for summary judgment was filed, and 

about two months before trial. (Mot. for Reconsideration, Ex. 8.) This cannot undo prejudice from 

years of Zitting’s prior reliance and lost opportunity to conduct discovery. Again, this is “too little[,] 

too late.” (Decision 2:8-10 (Nov. 27, 2017).) 

f. APCO has failed to show that preclusion of evidence due to its 

tardiness alone is case terminating, so consideration of the Young 

factors and holding of an evidentiary hearing are unnecessary. 

APCO argues that this Court’s preclusion of evidence “is the equivalent of case terminating 

sanctions” that warranted consideration of Young factors and an evidentiary hearing. (Mot. for 

Reconsideration 21:1-24:2.) Critically, APCO fails to raise this in its prior briefing on Zitting’s 

motion for summary judgment, including APCO’s supplemental opposition. This constitutes a 

waiver of the argument. See Chowdry, 111 Nev. at 563, 893 P.2d at 387. Nonetheless, this argument 

has no merit. 

The Nevada Supreme Court defines “case terminating sanctions” as one where the court 

sanctions a party by dismissing the complaint or striking the entire answer. Bahena v. Goodyear Tire 

& Rubber Co., 126 Nev. 606, 615 n. 6, 245 P.3d 1182, 1188 n. 6 (2010). The court has only required 

the consideration of Young factors and the completion of an evidentiary hearing in cases where the 

trial court considers case terminating sanctions, such as “dismissal with prejudice.” See id. at 613, 

245 P.3d at 1186–87; Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 92, 787 P.2d 777, 779 
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(1990). This is because the trial court has “broad authority to impose severe sanctions,” including 

broad discretion to decide what factors it would consider. Id. at 614, 245 P.3d at 1187. “Nevada 

jurisprudence does not follow the federal model of requiring progressive sanctions….” Id. at 610, 

245 P.3d at 1184. Here, the preclusion in this case is not case terminating. 

Notably, this Court provided similar preclusion to another lien claimant, National Wood 

Products, Inc. (“National Wood”). The court would preclude “evidence, testimony, documents[,] and 

things not properly produced by … APCO … in discovery.” (Order Granting Pl. in Intervention, 

Nat’l Wood Prods., Inc.’s Mot. in Limine 2:1-5 (Jan. 9, 2018).) Yet, trial is still proceeding in 

National Wood’s case, which shows that the preclusion of evidence did not serve as case terminating 

sanctions. 

Likewise, the preclusion of evidence conjured up at the last minute in Zitting’s case does not 

resolve the issue of whether the “pay-if-paid” provision is enforceable. (Decision 2:2-7 (Nov. 27, 

2017).) The parties must still address that issue, and the preclusion does not affect the parties’ ability 

to litigate the merits of that issue. There is nothing to suggest that this Court’s simultaneous 

resolution of the issues of preclusion and the enforceability of the “pay-if-paid” provision renders the 

preclusion case-terminating. Rather, it is indisputable that preclusion would not be case terminating 

had APCO prevailed on the “pay-if-paid” defense—as APCO would be the prevailing party instead. 

APCO’s reliance on two unpublished cases—Colony Ins. Co. v. Kuehn, 2:10-CV-01943-

KJD, 2011 WL 7946295 (D. Nev. Dec. 22, 2011) and McDonald v. Shamrock Investments, LLC, No. 

54852, 2011 WL 4527787 (Nev. Sept. 29, 2011) (unpublished)—do not lead to a different 

conclusion. (See Mot. for Reconsideration 22:1-24:2.) As an initial matter, court rules preclude 

APCO from citing a 2011 unpublished decision from Nevada Supreme Court as authoritative is 

improper. See Nev. R. App. P. 36(a)(3) (allowing citation to unpublished Nevada Supreme Court 

decision issued on or after January 1, 2016). Nonetheless, both of those cases involve case 

terminating sanctions that precluded the sanctioned party from litigating any issues on the merits, i.e. 

striking of a party’s answer. See, e.g., McDonald, 2011 WL 4527787, at *2. This is not the case here 

since this Court still permitted APCO to litigate via its summary judgment oppositions critical issues 
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of whether Nevada Revised Statute 624, et seq. required payment of the primary contractors 

subcontractors and the enforceability of pay-if-paid. (See Decision 2:2-7 (Nov. 27, 2017).)   

In fact, the Nevada Supreme Court in Pizarro-Ortega v. Cervantes-Lopez, 133 Nev. ___, 

P.3d 783 (2017) has recently affirmed this Court’s discretion in evaluating the grounds for 

preclusion based solely on Nev. R. Civ. P. 37(c): 

 
We clarify that when a party has failed to abide by NRCP 16.1’s 
disclosure requirements, NRCP 37(c)(1) provides the appropriate 
analytical framework for district courts to employ in determining the 
consequence of that failure. Under NRCP 37(c)(1), a party is 
prohibited from “us[ing] as evidence at trial ... any witness or 
information not so disclosed” unless the party can show there was 
“substantial justification” for the failure to disclose or “unless such 
failure is harmless.” See also NRCP 16.1(e)(3)(B) (providing for 
discretionary exclusion of evidence under similar circumstances if an 
attorney “fails to *788 reasonably comply with any provision of 
[NRCP 16.1]”). 

Id., 396 P.3d at 787–88. In other words, APCO has no right to an analysis under the Young factors in 

conjunction with an evidentiary hearing prior to this Court’s issuance of preclusion. See id. 

Both in its oppositions to summary judgment and in this reconsideration motion, APCO 

ignores the fact that Zitting presented arguments based on APCO’s obligations as a primary 

contractor pursuant to Chapter 624 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. Instead, APCO argues that 

Zitting must strictly perform all conditions precedent in its contract. (Mot. for Reconsideration 33:1-

34:4.) But APCO’s own cited authority shows that this argument fails as a matter of law. 

DeValk Lincoln Mercury, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 811 F.2d 326, 336 (7th Cir. 1987)—cited 

by APCO in its motion—expressly states that a party is entitled to payment under a construction 

contract when it substantially performs its contractual obligations: 

 
As an initial matter, we hesitate to apply the substantial performance 
rule outside the realm of cases in which that rule is applied in 
Michigan. The substantial performance rule in Michigan allows 
contractors, engineers, builders, and other construction 
professionals to recover a proportionate share of a contractual sum 
when they have substantially performed their construction 
obligations. See, e.g., Antonoff v. Basso, 347 Mich. 18, 78 N.W.2d 604 
(1956); McCall v. Freedman, 35 Mich.App. 243, 192 N.W.2d 275 
(1971). Outside of those construction-type cases, however, we are 
unable to find any evidence that Michigan's courts are willing to more 
broadly apply the substantial performance rule. Cf. Gordon v. Great 
Lakes Bowling Corp., 18 Mich.App. 358, 171 N.W.2d 225, 228–29 
(1969) (applying substantial performance rule to lease dispute, but in 
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addition to rent, parties argued over construction costs and 
construction delay). 

DeValk Lincoln Mercury, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 811 F.2d 326, 336 (7th Cir. 1987) (emphasis 

added). APCO admits that the Nevada Supreme Court has adopted this reasoning in MB Am., Inc. v. 

Alaska Pac. Leasing, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 8, 367 P.3d 1286, 1288 (2016). (Mot. for Reconsideration 

33:8-19.) Strict compliance as argued by APCO applies outside of the context of construction-

context, such as prelitigation mediation provision in a commercial contract as indicated by the 

Nevada Supreme Court in MB Am., 367 P.3d at 1288. Here, there is no dispute that Zitting’s contract 

is a construction contract between contractors. Therefore, the substantial compliance standard 

applies. 

Assuming arguendo that both APCO’s contracts with the owner and Zitting are terminated, 

both Zitting’s contract and Nevada law requires APCO to pay the amount owed for the work 

completed by Zitting. Contrary to APCO’s assertion, (Mot. for Reconsideration 32:7-25), nothing 

about section 9.4 of Zitting’s subcontract requires a termination for convenience. The provision only 

requires a termination. (See id.) Further, Nev. Rev. Stat. 624.626(6) requires payment upon 

termination. (MSJ Reply 12:12-20.) This Court has already considered this when it granted Zitting’s 

motion for summary judgment. (See Decision (Nov. 27, 2017).) APCO has not shown why this 

Court should reconsider its prior decision. 

In any event, APCO’s conduct excuses Zitting’s performance of the conditions precedent. 

Again, APCO’s departure from the project prevented Zitting from fully performing its contract with 

APCO. “The prevention doctrine provides that a party may not escape contractual liability by 

reliance upon the failure of a condition precedent where the party wrongfully prevented performance 

of that condition precedent.” A.I.C., Ltd. v. Mapco Petroleum, Inc., 711 F.Supp. 1230, 1238 

(D.De.1989). 

APCO’s failure to acknowledge all of the legal arguments raised in Zitting’s summary 

judgment motion skews its view of the facts and legal arguments considered by this Court in 

reaching its Decision. The reason the Court’s exclusion of the late arguments and evidence lead to 

summary judgment is because APCO was legally wrong on all issues making judgment in favor of 
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Zitting warranted. The exclusion of evidence served only to bolster the necessity to grant summary 

judgment pursuant to APCO’s obligations as the primary contractor.   

This Court has already considered APCO’s arguments and has found them wanting. 

Therefore, there was no clear error made by this Court in granting summary judgment to Zitting. 

Because APCO cannot show that preclusion was clearly erroneous, there is no need for this 

Court to consider APCO’s arguments regarding defenses other than the enforceability of the “pay-if-

paid” provision.
5
  

g. APCO has failed to show that this Court erred in voiding the “pay-if-

paid” provision. 

APCO argues extensively that an unpublished decision—Padilla Constr. Co. of Nevada v. 

Big-D Constr. Corp., Nos. 67397, No. 68683, 2016 WL 6837851 (Nev. Nov. 18, 2016)—proves that 

this Court is wrong about not enforcing the “pay-if-paid” provision. (Mot. for Reconsideration 

35:11-38:11.) APCO’s reliance on this case does not lead to a different outcome. As an initial 

matter, this case is not controlling because it is an unpublished decision. Nev. R. App. P. 36(a)(2). 

Nevertheless, Padilla Constr. Co. of Nevada, 2016 WL 6837851, at *1 involves a materially 

different issue—a subcontractor’s right to payment for work that was expressly rejected as defective. 

In contrast, the owner has approved all of Zitting’s work, as discussed in the prior briefing on 

Zitting’s motion for summary judgment and as further supported by the preclusion of any effort by 

APCO to challenge this. For example, a third-party lien claimant’s ratification agreement shows the 

completion of Zitting’s scope of work by the time APCO departed the Project. (Supp. Response,
6
 

Ex. A, Ex. 15 at CAMCO-MW 01346.) APCO’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness has also testified as to no 

quality concerns with Zitting’s work. (MSJ, Ex. B 28:15-29:5.) As Zitting’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness 

                                                 
5
 In any event, APCO fails to show that Zitting’s declaration is inconsistent with Zitting’s deposition testimony, as 

discussed in the briefing on Zitting’s motion for summary judgment. APCO relies on out of context—and quite 

misleading—excerpts of Zitting’s Rule 30(b)(6) deposition testimony. For example, to argue that Zitting admitted 

APCO’s rejection of the change orders at issue, APCO omits the relevant portion from Zitting’s deposition testimony 

where Zitting’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness testified that he based his response on the limited information presented by 

APCO’s counsel. (Mot. for Reconsideration, Ex. 7 50:5-52:1).) APCO therefore cannot show a genuine issue of material 

fact. 

 
6
 Zitting cites its response to APCO Construction’s supplemental opposition to its motion for summary judgment as 

“Supp. Response.” 
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explained at the deposition, covering up Zitting’s work with drywall shows acceptance. (Mot. for 

Reconsideration, Ex. 7 27:3-13.) This makes sense. One would not cover up defective framing work 

with drywall because the drywall would then have to be ripped down to make any repairs to the 

framing. (See id.) Also, it is undisputed that the project is now complete.  This is proof of the 

owner’s final acceptance of Zitting’s work. 

In any event, the rules of statutory construction obviate the need to consider Padilla Constr. 

Co. of Nevada. It is well-settled that when a statute is clear and unambiguous, this court gives effect 

to the plain and ordinary meaning of the words and does not resort to the rules of construction. Orion 

Portfolio Servs. 2 LLC v. Cnty. of Clark, 126 Nev. ___, ___, 245 P.3d 527, 531 (2010) (citations 

omitted). In other words, public policy is irrelevant when the statute is clear and unambiguous. See 

id. APCO does not dispute that Nev. Rev. Stat. 624.626(1)(b) is clear and unambiguous on the 

limitations for a pay-if-paid provision. Nev. Rev. Stat. 624.628(3)(a) is also clear and unambiguous 

on the invalidity of any pay-if-paid provision that goes beyond the limitations of Nev. Rev. Stat. 

624.626(1)(b). Therefore, this Court only needs to apply the statutes as plainly written and void the 

“pay-if-paid” provision in APCO’s subcontract with Zitting. 

Zitting and the other parties have already discussed extensively in their prior and other 

briefings on this issue why the “pay-if-paid” provision does not pass statutory muster. Zitting 

incorporates those briefings, such as Zitting’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against APCO 

Construction, Reply in Support of Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against APCO 

Construction, Response to APCO Construction’s Supplemental Opposition to Zitting Brothers 

Construction, Inc.’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and Joinder to Peel Brimley Lien 

Claimants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Precluding Defenses Based on Pay-if-Paid 

Agreements. Zitting also incorporates the arguments set forth by National Wood Products, Inc. and 

Peel Brimley Lien Claimants in their opposition to APCO’s motion for reconsideration of the order 

granting Peel Brimley Lien Claimants’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to Preclude Defenses 

of Pay If Paid Provision. 

/ / 

/ / 
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3. APCO has contravened public policy of deciding cases on their merits and 

therefore does not deserve any reconsideration of this Court’s order. 

APCO cannot invoke the public policy in favor of deciding cases on its merits. As discussed 

above and in the parties’ briefing on Zitting’s motion for summary judgment, APCO’s conduct over 

the course of 7 years have made it impossible for Zitting to now prepare for trial on APCO’s late-

asserted defenses. APCO has severely undermined Zitting’s ability to obtain evidence to respond to 

those defenses. The purpose of the discovery rules is to avoid “surprise” or “trial by ambush.” 

Mopex, 215 F.R.D. at 93. And Nev. R. Civ. P. 37 serves this purpose by punishing those who 

prevent other parties from adjudicating their cases on the merits. To allow trial to go forward in this 

case will eviscerate the purpose of Nev. R. Civ. P. 37. APCO can only blame itself for its 

predicament. 

III. CONCLUSION 

Because APCO fails to introduce any new evidence that warrants a reversal of this Court’s 

order or show how the order was clearly erroneous, this Court should deny APCO’s motion for 

reconsideration. 

Dated: January 10, 2018 

 

 

  

 
 
 

WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ EDELMAN & 
DICKER LLP 
 
 
/s/I-Che Lai  
Jorge Ramirez, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 6787 
I-Che Lai, Esq. 
Nevada Bar No. 12247 
300 South 4

th
 Street, 11

th
 Floor 

Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Telephone: (702) 727-1400 
Facsimile: (702) 727-1401 
Attorneys for Lien Claimant, 
Zitting Brothers Construction, Inc. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to NRCP 5(b), I certify that I am an employee of Wilson Elser Moskowitz Edelman 

& Dicker LLP, and that on this 10th day of January, 2018, I served a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing ZITTING BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION, INC.’S OPPOSITION TO APCO 

CONSTRUCTION, INC.’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF COURT’S ORDER 

GRANTING ZITTING BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR 

SUMMARY JUDGMENT document as follows: 

 

 by placing same to be deposited for mailing in the United States Mail, in a sealed 

envelope upon which first class postage was prepaid in Las Vegas, Nevada;  

 

 via electronic means by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system, upon each 

party in this case who is registered as an electronic case filing user with the Clerk;  

 

 via hand-delivery to the addressees listed below; 

 

 via facsimile; 

 

 by transmitting via email the document listed above to the email address set forth 

below on this date before 5:00 p.m. 
 
 
 

 

    BY: /s/Nicole Hrustyk___________________________________ 

      An Employee of WILSON ELSER MOSKOWITZ  

EDELMAN & DICKER LLP 
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